SYSTEM DYNAMICS ANALYSIS OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE TAXING EFFECT ON SUGAR CONSUMPTION, DENTAL HEALTH SERVICE UTILIZATION AND ORAL HEALTH FOR THAI ADULTS AND ELDERLY



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Research and Management Department of Preventive and Social Medicine Faculty of Medicine Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University การวิเคราะห์พลวัตระบบของผลกระทบมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาลต่อการบริโภคน้ำตาล การ ใช้บริการทันตกรรม และสุขภาพช่องปากของประชากรไทยวัยทำงานและวัยสูงอายุ



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาการวิจัยและการจัดการด้านสุขภาพ ภาควิชาเวชศาสตร์ป้องกันและสังคม คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	SYSTEM DYNAMICS ANALYSIS OF SUGAR-SWEETENED
	BEVERAGE TAXING EFFECT ON SUGAR CONSUMPTION,
	DENTAL HEALTH SERVICE UTILIZATION AND ORAL
	HEALTH FOR THAI ADULTS AND ELDERLY
Ву	Miss Nipaporn Urwannachotima
Field of Study	Health Research and Management
Thesis Advisor	PIYA HANVORAVONGCHAI, M.D.,M.Sc.,S.D.
Thesis Co Advisor	Assistant Professor John Pastor Ansah, B.Sc., M.Sc., Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

(Professor SUTTIPONG WACHARASINDHU, M.D.)

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

(Professor Pornchai Sithisarankul, M.D., M.P.H., Ph.D.)

(PIYA HANVORAVONGCHAI, M.D.,M.Sc.,S.D.) ______ Thesis Co-Advisor

(Assistant Professor John Pastor Ansah, B.Sc., M.Sc., Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Associate Professor WIROJ JIAMJARASRANGSI,

M.D.,M.P.H.,Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Associate Professor JIRUTH SRIRATANABAN, M.D., Ph.D.)

External Examiner

(Associate Professor Suwit Udompanich,

D.D.S.,M.P.H.,Dr.P.H.)

นิภาพร เอื้อวัณณะโชติมา : การวิเคราะห์พลวัตระบบของผลกระทบมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่ มีน้ำตาลต่อการบริโภคน้ำตาล การใช้บริการทันตกรรม และสุขภาพช่องปากของประชากรไทย วัยทำงานและวัยสูงอายุ. (SYSTEM DYNAMICS ANALYSIS OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE TAXING EFFECT ON SUGAR CONSUMPTION, DENTAL HEALTH SERVICE UTILIZATION AND ORAL HEALTH FOR THAI ADULTS AND ELDERLY) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ดร. นพ.ปิยะ หาญวรวงศ์ชัย, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ผศ. ดร.จอห์น พาสเทอร์ แอนซา

โรคฟันผุเป็นปัญหาสุขภาพช่องปากที่สำคัญ โดยเฉพาะอย่างยิ่งในกลุ่มประเทศกำลังพัฒนา เกือบครึ่งหนึ่ง ประชากรไทยวัยทำงาน และวัยสูงอายุมีฟันผุที่ไม่ได้รับการรักษาอย่างน้อยหนึ่งชี่ โรคฟันผุนั้นก่อให้เกิดความเจ็บปวด และมีผลกระทบต่อประสิทธิภาพการทำงาน รวมถึงการดำเนินชีวิตประจำวัน การศึกษานี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษา ้ความสัมพันธ์ของโรคฟันผุ การบริโภคน้ำตาล และการใช้บริการทันตกรรม และพัฒนาแบบจำลองพลวัตระบบ เพื่อ ประมาณการผลของการใช้นโยบายการเก็บภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาลต่อการเปลี่ยนแปลงของโรคฟันผุในประชากรไทยอายุ 15 ปีขึ้นไป การศึกษานี้ใช้การสร้างแบบจำลองพลวัตระบบแบบหลายส่วน เพื่ออธิบายความสัมพันธ์ระหว่างการดำเนิน โรค ความรุนแรงของโรคฟันผุ และพฤติกรรมที่เกี่ยวกับสุขภาพช่องปาก และมีการจำลองสถานการณ์สี่สถานการณ์เพื่อ ประมาณการเปลี่ยนแปลงผลลัพธ์ และหาจุดแทรกแซงในการลดสภาวะโรคฟันผุในประชากร โดยสถานการณ์หลักคือการ เก็บภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาล ผลการศึกษาแสดงให้เห็นว่า ภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาลมีผลต่อการลดการบริโภคน้ำตาลได้ เมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับสถานการณ์ก่อนใช้นโยบาย ทั้งในระยะสั้น (3.2% สำหรับประชากรที่รายได้น้อย และ 5.4% สำหรับ ประชากรที่รายได้ปานกลางและสูง) และในระยะยาว (5.2% สำหรับประชากรที่รายได้น้อย และ 7.5% สำหรับประชากร ที่รายได้ปานกลางและสูง) อย่างไรก็ตามมาตรการภาษีดังกล่าว มีผลต่อการลดโรคฟันผุไม่เด่นชัด ทั้งนี้แบบจำลองยัง แสดงให้เห็นว่าการบริโภคน้ำตาล และความชุกของโรคฟันผุจะลดลงมากขึ้น ถ้ามีการดำเนินนโยบายภาษีนี้รวมกับ มาตรการอื่น ๆ ที่ไม่ใช่ภาษี เช่น โครงการสร้างเสริมสุขภาพ และการสนับสนุนให้มีผลิตภัณฑ์ เครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาล น้อย นอกจากนี้การเปลี่ยนแปลงของสุขภาพช่องปากจะเด่นชัดในกลุ่มประชากรที่มีอยู่ในกลุ่มเสี่ยงต่อโรคฟันผุ หรือมี ภาวะฟันผุรุนแรง การศึกษานี้เป็นตัวอย่างของการใช้แบบจำลองพลวัตระบบนี้เป็นเครื่องมือเสริมให้ผู้กำหนดนโยบาย สำหรับการพิจารณาผลกระทบของนโยบาย และสนับสนุนการวางแผนนโยบายด้านสุขภาพช่องปากของประชากรไทย

สาขาวิชา	การวิจัยและการจัดการด้าน	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	สุขภาพ	
ปีการศึกษา	2561	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม
ปีการศึกษา	สุขภาพ 2561	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

5674762730 : MAJOR HEALTH RESEARCH AND MANAGEMENT

KEYWORD:Sugar sweetened beverage tax, Sugar consumption, Dental health service utilization,
Dental caries, System dynamics model

Nipaporn Urwannachotima : SYSTEM DYNAMICS ANALYSIS OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE TAXING EFFECT ON SUGAR CONSUMPTION, DENTAL HEALTH SERVICE UTILIZATION AND ORAL HEALTH FOR THAI ADULTS AND ELDERLY. Advisor: PIYA HANVORAVONGCHAI, M.D.,M.Sc.,S.D. Co-advisor: Asst. Prof. John Pastor Ansah, B.Sc.,M.Sc.,Ph.D.

Dental caries is a major oral health problem, particularly among developing countries. Almost half of Thai adults and elderly have at least one untreated dental caries. Dental caries can result in debilitating pain that affects work productivity and even the performance of daily activities. The objectives of this study are to develop system dynamics model addressing the relationship of dental caries, sugar consumption and dental health service utilization of Thai population aged 15 and older; and to estimate the changes of dental caries prevalence when the sugar-sweetened beverage tax is implemented. A multi-sector system dynamics model was developed to consolidate the relationship between the progression of dental caries experience and oral health related behaviors. Four hypothetical policy scenarios were simulated to investigate potential points of intervention to improve dental caries status in the population. The main scenario was the implementation of sugar-sweetened beverage tax. The study shows that the sugar-sweetened beverage tax can produce the reduction of sugar consumption compared to the base-case scenario without the policy for both short-run (3.2% for poverty population, and 5.4% for non-poverty population) and long-run (5.2% for poverty population, and 7.5% for non-poverty population). However, the impact of the sugar-sweetened beverage tax on reduction of dental caries prevalence is not pronounced. The model also shows that the combined tax policy with other non-tariff intervention such as health promotion program and the encouragement of reformulation in sugar-sweetened beverages could provide the most benefit on reduction of sugar consumption and dental caries prevalence. In addition, changes in oral health are evident in populations at high risk for dental caries. This study is an example of system dynamics model use for providing policy makers with additional insights to support their oral health policy planning for Thai population.

Field of Study:	Health Research and	Student's Signature
	Management	
Academic Year:	2018	Advisor's Signature
		Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Piya Hanvoravongchai, for his support, guidance and mentorship given to me throughout my study. I also would like to express my gratitude and deep appreciation to my co-advisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. John Pastor Ansah, for his valuable time, guidance and support which enable me to develop this study.

My acknowledgement and thanks are expressed to Prof. Dr. Pornchai Sithisarankul, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Wiroj Jiamjarusrangsi, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jiruth Sriratanaban and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Suwit Udompanich, my thesis committee who take their valuable time to evaluate and make my dissertation academically complete. I also would like to express my appreciation to all the teachers, staffs and friends in the Department of Preventive and Social Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University for giving me valuable knowledge and support during my study in this program.

I would like to show my gratitude to Asst. Prof. Dr. Jirapol Sinthunava, Mr. Wottipong Chantarapratin, Miss Victoria Koh for the inspiration, advice and assistance in systems thinking and system dynamics methodology; Dr. Piyada Prasertsom, Dr Weerasak Putthasri, Dr. Thongchai Vachirarojpisan, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mondha Kengganpanich and all participants who involved in the interview and group modeling process who gave the valuable input and comment for developing this dissertation.

In addition, I would like to express my gratitude to the Royal Golden Jubilee (RGJ) Ph.D. Programme, Thailand Research Fund and the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University for the scholarship support for my doctoral study. I also would like to thank the Bureau of Dental Health, Department of Health, Ministry of Public Health; the National Statistical Office, Ministry of Information and Communication Technology; and National Bureau of Agriculture Commodity and Food Standards for the data used in this study. I also would like to thank Health Services and Systems Research at Duke-NUS, Singapore that gave me the visiting opportunity to learn and develop my system dynamics model in this study.

Finally, I would like to express my deep appreciation to my beloved mother who passed away since I started this Ph.D. program but she always gives me spiritual support and strengths to achieve my goal; my beloved husband and children who always understand and encourage me through all my study course.

V



Chulalongkorn University

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT (THAI)	
	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
List of tables	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATION	15
CHAPTER I	16
INTRODUCTION	16
1.1 Background and rationale	16
1.2 Research questions	21
1.3 Research objectives	21
1.4 Theoretical conceptual framework	22
CHAPTER II	25
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	25
2.1 Dental caries and situation for Thai adults and elderly	25
2.2 Dental services utilization	27
2.3 Sugar consumption in Thai population	
2.4 Social determinants of oral health	

2.5 Sugar-sweetened beverage tax (SSB tax)	
2.6 Complex systems and system dynamics model	
CHAPTER III	51
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	51
3.1 Research design	51
3.2 Study population	51
3.2.1 Target population	51
3.2.2 Sample population	51
3.2.3 Unit of analysis	52
3.3 Modeling process	52
3.3.1 Problem articulation (Boundary selection)	52
3.3.2 Formulation of dynamic hypothesis	56
3.3.3 Formulation of a simulation model	58
3.3.4 Model testing	61
3.3.5 Policy formulation and evaluation	63
3.4 Ethical Consideration	65
CHAPTER IV	67
SYSTEM DYNAMICS MODEL STRUCTURE	67
4.1 Causal loop diagram	67
4.1.1 Oral health care	69
4.1.2 SSB consumption	70
4.2 Stock and flow diagram	72
4.2.1 Population sub-model	73
4.2.2 Dental caries sub-model	75

4.2.3 Oral health service utilization sub-model	78
4.2.4 Sugar consumption sub-model	81
4.2.5 Model assumptions	83
CHAPTER V	84
RESULTS	84
5.1 Base-case analysis	84
5.1.1 Population sub-model	84
5.1.2 Dental caries sub-model	86
5.1.3 Oral health service utilization sub-model	88
5.1.4 Sugar consumption sub-model	89
5.2 Policy scenario analysis	91
5.2.1 Total population in each DMFT	91
5.2.2 Population with untreated dental caries in each DMFT	96
5.2.3 Sugar-sweetened beverage consumption	100
5.2.4 Sugar consumption	102
5.3 Sensitivity analysis	107
CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY DISCUSSION	109
6.1 Causal loop diagram represented the complex relationship of SSB tax, den	tal
caries experience, dental service utilization and sugar consumption	109
6.2 Population in DMFT severity, treatment status and sugar consumption	112
6.3 Strength and limitation of the study	117
6.4.1 Policy recommendation	118
6.4.2 Research recommendation	119
APPENDIX	121

Appendix A: Stakeholder analysis matrix for SSB tax policy	
Appendix B: Interview form and summary of the key informant interview	w result.122
Appendix C: Detail result and reference data for base-case analysis	
Appendix D: Model parameters	134
Appendix E: Excise tax policy for sugar-sweetened beverage	140
REFERENCES	141
REFERENCES	152
VITA พาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	

List of tables

Page
Table 1 WHO severity criteria for level of dental caries experience in permanent
dentition
Table 2 SSB tax designs and their possible effects
Table 3 Comparison of traditional and complex systems analytic assumptions
Table 4 DMFT severity criteria used in this study (modified from WHO severity criteria
for level of dental caries experience in permanent dentition)
Table 5 Parameters, baseline values, and their range in sensitivity analysis
Table 6 The pathway of feedback loops identified in the causal loop diagram
Table 7 Projected population (million) by DMFT severity
Table 8 Projected untreated dental caries population (million) by DMFT
Table 9 Projected SSB consumption (liter/person) for poverty, non-poverty and total
population for policy analysis
Table 10 Projected sugar consumption (kg/person) of poverty, non-poverty and total
population for policy analysis
Table 11 Summary for policy analysis results
Table 12 Sensitivity analysis outcomes in year 2040108
Table 13 Projected number of population (person) with the reference data
Table 14 Projected number of population (person) with the reference data
(continued)
Table 15 Projected proportion of population with the reference data
Table 16 Projected proportion of population with untreated dental caries in each
DMFT group with the reference data
Table 17 Projected number of dental personnel with the reference data

Table 18 Projected sugar and SSB consumption with the reference data .	
Table 19 Model parameters	
Table 20 Excise tax for sugar sweetened beverage in Thailand	



LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1 Theoretical conceptual framework
Figure 2 Andersen's behavioral model of health service use
Figure 3 Indirect sugar consumption in Thailand during 1997-2010
Figure 4 Direct and indirect sugar consumption of Thai population (1997-2010) 34
Figure 5 Indirect sugar consumption in Thailand during 1997-2010
Figure 6 Conceptual model for oral health inequalities
Figure 7 Example of causal loop diagram representing population dynamics
Figure 8 Example of stock and flow diagram representing population dynamics 49
Figure 9 Causal loop diagram of dental caries, sugar consumption and SSB tax
Figure 10 Stock and flow diagram: Population sub-model73
Figure 11 Stock and flow diagram: Dental caries sub-model75
Figure 12 Stock and flow diagram: Oral health service utilization sub-model
Figure 13 Stock and flow diagram: Sugar consumption sub-model
Figure 14 Projected Thai population with the reference data
Figure 15 Projected proportion of population in each DMFT severity group with the
reference data
Figure 16 Projected proportion of population with untreated dental caries in each
DMFT severity group with the reference data
Figure 17 Projected number of dental personnel with the reference data
Figure 18 Projected uptake rate of dental treatment in population with the reference
data
Figure 19 Projected SSB consumption in poverty and non-poverty population

Figure 20 Projected total sugar consumption and SSB sugar consumption for poverty
and non-poverty population with the reference data90
Figure 21 Projected population (million) in each DMFT at Base-case (2000-2040)94
Figure 22 Projected population (million) each DMFT for Base-case and policy scenario
in 2040
Figure 23 Projected untreated dental caries population (million) by DMFT for Base-
case scenario from year 2000-2040
Figure 24 Projected population (million) with untreated dental caries in each DMFT
for Base-case and policy scenario in year 2040
Figure 25 Projected sugar consumption (kg/person) of poverty, non-poverty and total
population for policy analysis



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

Causal loop diagram
Decay, Missing and Filled Teeth
Group model building
Socio-economic status
System dynamics
Stock and flow diagram
Sugar-sweetened beverage
ALL
ลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
Longkorn University

CHAPTER I

1.1 Background and rationale

Oral diseases leading to the loss of teeth are still a major health problem in Thailand. Dental caries can result in debilitating pain, affecting daily activities and work productivity.⁽¹⁾ Moreover, untreated dental caries has been one of the primary causes of tooth loss among Thai adults and elderly.⁽²⁾ The prevalence of dental caries has increased from 85.6% in 2000 to 86.7% in 2012 among Thai adults.⁽³⁻⁴⁾ For elderly (60-74 years), the prevalence of dental caries was 95.6% in 2000 and increased to 97.1% in 2012.⁽³⁻⁴⁾

Dental caries experience is commonly measured using the Decay, Missing and Filled Teeth (dmft/DMFT) Index, which is an aggregate score of the number of teeth that are either decayed, missing or filled. Each diseased tooth will contribute one count to the total dmft/DMFT score. From the year 2000 to 2012, the mean DMFT of adult (35-44 years) slightly decreased from 6.13 to 6, while the mean DMFT of elderly (60-74 years) tended to increase from 14.37 to 15.⁽³⁻⁴⁾ However, the findings from recent Thailand National Oral health survey in 2012 showed that 35.7% of adults and 50.2% of elderly have at least one untreated tooth decay. Percentage of tooth loss has been increasing with age. The survey showed that the partial tooth loss and total tooth loss are 88.3% and 7.2% at age 60-74 years. In addition, the total tooth loss or edentulism was as high as 32.2% at age 80-89 years. The proportion of the elderly is likely to increase in Thailand. According to the estimates of the Institute for Population and Social Research, Thai elderly population has increased from 10.3% in 2005 to 14% in 2015 and the risk of chronic diseases and oral health problem have increased among these population.⁽⁵⁾ Although the proportion of the working age population has decreased slightly in the same period of time, the working-age group accounted for most of the population.⁽⁶⁾ Moreover, they will become seniors in the future. An analysis of determinants affecting oral health shows that these groups are important for understanding the future demand for planning dental health services and policy at the population level.

Regarding dental health service utilization, the report from Health and Welfare Survey in 2015 showed that Thai adults aged 15-24 years, aged 25-59 years and elderly aged 60 years and older only 11.2%, 8.9% and 7.1% respectively had visited dentists within the past year.⁽⁷⁾ They tended to receive dental treatment when the symptoms were severe. Therefore, treatment was often tooth extraction and complicated procedures which required long period of time. The proportion of dental health service utilization has been found to be different in each socio-economic subgroups of population.⁽⁷⁾ The dental health service utilization rate in population was higher among women (11.1%) than among men (8.1%). People in urban area had higher rate of utilization (10.5%) than in rural area (8.9%).⁽⁷⁾ Despite the individual predisposition of dental caries, current evidence supports the association between high quantity and frequent sugar consumption and the prevalence of dental caries.⁽⁸⁻⁹⁾ Sugar consumption in Thailand has increased significantly in the past 30 years.⁽¹⁰⁾ Sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) is the most common source of added sugar in the diets of Thai population.⁽¹⁰⁻¹²⁾ Sixty-four percent of Thais consumed SSBs on a weekly basis, with daily consumption in Thailand ranging from 10 grams to 34 grams per serving size. While the World Health Organization recommends daily sugar intake of about 25 grams⁽¹³⁾, individuals in Thailand are more likely to exceed this recommended level. To determine the causes and solutions of sugar consumption problem in population, the factors underlying the behavior should be taken into an account.

Sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) tax is one possible policy intervention that government use to reduce sugar consumption among the population. Some cities in the United States, Mexico and several European countries have implemented SSB taxes to control sugar intake and reduce the risk of obesity⁽¹⁴⁻¹⁵⁾. They have found that when the price of SSB increased, the demand for consumption decreased.⁽¹⁶⁾ The systematic review of Escobar and colleagues showed that the increase of SSB price would reduce the prevalence of overweight and obesity in the adult population in USA.⁽¹⁵⁾ In September 2017 the Thai Excise Department implemented an excise sugar tax on certain beverages according to the Excise Tax Act B.E. 2017. This tiered tax levy, which will be adjusted every 2 years until 2023, depends on sugar content of SSBs. With this policy levy, it is expected to reduce sugar content of SSB products, which will eventually lead to healthier choice and lower sugar consumption among Thai population.⁽¹⁷⁻¹⁹⁾ However, the effect of SSB tax on sugar consumption and dental caries is not straightforward. It is uncertain whether a tax increase will translate into lower sugar consumption and better oral health outcomes. Understanding the causal mechanism through which SSB tax will translate into lower sugar consumption and improved oral health is important in identifying a leverage point for interventions. In addition, it is vital to engage all stakeholders to develop a deeper understanding with a whole system perspective on the dynamic interactions between SSB tax, sugar consumption, and oral health outcomes.

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

Oral health issues can be conceptualized as a complex system which is linked to the context of multiple factors interacting with each other. The issues also involve with various stakeholders. The goal of the system is to promote the oral health of the population. In many cases, the interaction of those factors may not show cause and effect directly. The related factors influence each other in the feedback loop and make the whole system change.⁽²⁰⁻²¹⁾ The uses of traditional epidemiological approach may be limited because it may not determine the non-linear and complex relationship reflect their potential impacts on others.^(20, 22) System dynamics (SD) modeling is an analytical approach to understand the behavior of complex systems over time using structure of stocks, flows, internal feedback loops, and time delays.⁽²³⁾ It describes how the relationships of related components of a system contribute to the system behavior as a whole.⁽²⁴⁾ This approach has been used to analyze oral health problems in some countries, for example, the estimation of oral healthcare service system in the Netherlands⁽²⁵⁾, the analysis of participation in oral health promotion in New York⁽²⁶⁾ and the analysis of sustainable sugary drinks taxes and the uses of tax revenues to prevent obesity in children in the United States.⁽²⁷⁾ In Thailand, SD models have been used to estimate the dental personnel required for oral health service system.⁽²⁸⁻²⁹⁾ However, such studies have not considered socio-economic and social determinants of the population.

Since oral diseases especially dental caries can be prevented by behavioral change interventions such as sugar consumption reduction, oral hygiene practices and utilizing dental health care services. Each behavior and related factors change can affect each other behaviors and oral health conditions through feedback relationships. To our knowledge, there has not been a study on the impact of SSB taxes on sugar consumption and oral health condition in complex relationships using SD model. This study aims to develop a simulation model using the system dynamics methodology to investigate dental caries experience progression and possible interventions to alleviate the situation among the Thai population.

1.2 Research questions

- 1.2.1 What is the pattern of complex relationships of sugar consumption, dental service utilization and oral health status of Thai adults and elderly with different socio-economic status?
- 1.2.2 How will the sugar-sweetened beverage tax policy affect the sugar consumption and oral health status of Thai adults and elderly in the long

term?

1.3 Research objectives

1.3.1 To develop system dynamics model addressing the relationship of sugar consumption, dental health service utilization and oral health status of Thai adults and elderly.

1.3.2 To estimate the changes of oral health status of Thai adults and elderly

when the sugar-sweetened beverage taxing policy is implemented.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

1.4 Theoretical conceptual framework



Figure 1 Theoretical conceptual framework

- 1.5 Operational definitions
 - Adult population: population aged between 15-59 years in the survey year on secondary database.
 - Elderly population: population aged 60 years and over in a survey year on secondary database.
 - Oral health problems: dental caries assessed by the Decayed, Missing,

Filled Teeth index (DMFT) for dental caries experiences

• Dental services utilization: the use of dental services in hospitals and dental clinics which served by licensed dentists and/or dental nurses practicing on the duty to services permitted by law, at least once in the past year before the survey.

- Health service systems: refer to availability of the dental healthcare services (proportion of the dental personnel per population), and affordability of the dental healthcare (people can afford the dental treatment).
- Uptake rate of treatment: proportion of treated population in each DMFT severity.
- Self-care: brushing teeth at least twice a day, using fluoride toothpaste.
- Sugar-sweetened beverages refer to pre-packaged non-alcoholic beverages which contain sugar ingredient such as soft drinks, tea, coffee and juices.
- Poverty population: population who have expenditure on consumption below the national poverty line (as of 1,555 baht/person/month in 2000 to 2,644 baht/person/month in 2015) defined by Thai National Statistical Office, The Ministry of Information and Communication Technology.
- Non-poverty population: population who have expenditure on consumption above the national poverty line
- Very low DMFT: the DMFT score less than 1.2 for individual aged 15-34 years old, or less than 5.0 for individual aged 35 years and older
- Low DMFT: the DMFT score of 1.2 2.6 for individual aged 15-34 years

old, or 5.0 - 8.9 for individual aged 35 years and older

- Moderate DMFT: the DMFT score of 2.7 4.4 for individual aged 15-34 years old, or 9.0-13.9 for individual aged 35 years and older
- **High DMFT:** the DMFT score more than 4.4 for individual aged 15-34 years old, or more than 13.9 for individual aged 35 years and older



CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Dental caries and situation for Thai adults and elderly

The etiology of dental caries is the interaction of multiple factors over time. The three principle factors are the host factor (susceptible tooth morphology and saliva composition), the oral micro-flora and the substrate or fermentable sugar in diet; and their effects are dependent on the length of time an individual is exposed to these factors. Despite individual predispositions to dental caries, other indirect factors such as socio-behavioral and environmental factors can increase one's susceptibility to dental caries and its progression.⁽³⁰⁻³²⁾ One such factor that is amenable to change is sugar consumption. High quantity and frequency of sugar consumption is one of the major causes of dental caries.⁽⁸⁾ Dental caries occur when enamel and dentine are demineralized by organic acids produced from bacteria in dental plaque. These acids are the by-product from metabolic breakdown of sugar derived from diet. A longer exposure of sugars within the oral cavity due to the high frequency and quantity of sugar consumption will lead to an increase in acidity of the mouth. This causes an increase in solubility of calcium hydroxyapatite in the tooth surfaces, leading to demineralization.⁽⁸⁾ Current evidences also support the association between high sugar consumption and prevalence of dental caries.⁽⁸⁻⁹⁾

In epidemiology studies, the Decay, Missing and Filled Teeth (DMFT) index is the most commonly used index to quantify dental caries experience based on the number of decayed, missing and filled teeth.⁽³³⁾ It has been used to measure the differences in dental caries experience among groups of population or within the same group at the different times.⁽³⁴⁾ The caries experience is calculated by aggregating the number of teeth either as decayed (D), missing due to caries (M) or filled. For the indicator age groups of children (12 years) and adults (35-44 years), World Health Organization suggested the using of DMFT to categorize the degree of dental caries experience as in Table 1.⁽³⁵⁾

Table 1 WHO severity criteria for level of dental caries experience in permanent dentition ⁽³⁵⁾

Children 12 years of age (DMFT)		Adult 35-44 years of age (DMFT)
Very low	< <u>1.2</u> W 1 AN 1 S ALL M	Very low < 5.0
Low	1.2-2.6	Low 5.0-8.9
Moderate	2.7-4.4	Moderate 9.0-13.9
High	4.5-6.5	High >13.9
Very high	> 6.5	

From the year 2000 to 2012, the prevalence of dental caries for adults aged 15 years, 35-44 years and 60-74 years have been slightly increasing from 62.1% to 62.4%,

85.6% to 86.7% and 95.6% to 97.1% respectively.⁽³⁻⁴⁾ The mean DMFT of adult aged 15 years and 35-44 years slightly decreased from 2.11 to 1.9 and 6.1 to 6.0 respectively, while the mean DMFT of elderly aged 60-74 years tended to increase from 14.4 to 14.9.⁽³⁻⁴⁾ The untreated dental caries for aged 15 years and older has also been improved for the past twenty years.⁽³⁾ However, untreated dental caries is still the major oral health problem for adults and elderly. The findings from recent Thailand National Oral health survey in 2012 showed that 35.7% of adults and 50.2% of elderly still have at least one untreated tooth decay.⁽³⁾ Percentage of tooth loss has been increasing with age. For the elderly, the recent survey showed that the partial tooth loss and total tooth loss are 88.3% and 7.2% at age 60-74 years. The elderly had 18.8 average remaining teeth per person. The average remaining posterior teeth was 3.2 and 1.0 pairs in 60-74 years old and 80 years old, respectively.⁽³⁾

2.2 Dental services utilization

จุหาลงกรณมหาวัทยาลัย

The dental services utilization of Thai population decreases with the increasing age.⁽⁷⁾ The trend of dental services use in population slightly increased from 7.4% in 2006 to 9.6% in 2018.⁽⁷⁾ However, the 2017 Health and Welfare survey showed that the dental services used within the past years before the survey were only 11.2% for aged 15-24 years, 8.9% for aged 25-59 years and 7.1% for aged 60 years and older. The proportion of dental health service utilization has been found to be different in each socio-economic subgroups of the population.⁽⁷⁾ The dental health service utilization rate in the population was higher among women (11.1%) than among men

(8.1%). People in urban area had higher rate of utilization (10.5%) than in the rural area (8.9%); and people who lived in Bangkok had the highest rate (15.8%) among other part of the country.⁽⁷⁾

Thai adults and elderly population tended to receive dental treatment when the symptoms were severe. The main reason for seeing the dentists was having pain or tooth sensitivity.⁽³⁾ Therefore, the treatment was often tooth extraction and complicated procedures which required long period of time for treatment. On the other hand, the two main reasons for not getting dental services were having no symptom, followed by having no time for treatment even when there was the need for treatment.⁽³⁾ For those who visited the dentists in the past years, the universal health coverage was the highest insurance used both for adults (70.2%) and elderly (82.8%), followed by the social health insurance in adults (15.3%) and the civil servant medical benefit in elderly (15.8%).⁽³⁾

Theories related to dental service utilization

The use of health services, including dental services, is designated as one of the factors that affect health conditions and oral health of the population.⁽³⁶⁾ In behavioral sciences, the use of health services is described as personal behavior which is a result of the unique attributes of individuals, the environment surrounding and their interactions.⁽³⁷⁾ One well known and widely used concept describing the factors involved in health service utilization is Andersen's behavioral model of health

service use.⁽³⁸⁾ The latter version of this conceptual framework includes personal and environmental factors, as well as health service system and health outcome. Moreover, the relationship are dynamics showing the feedback loop between the outcome and the related factors (Figure 2).





Figure 2 Andersen's behavioral model of health service use ⁽³⁸⁾

This concept describes the health outcome as a result from three factors: health behavior, population characteristics, and environment. For the population characteristics, there are three sub-factors:

- Predisposing factors are individual factors, including age, gender, education, occupation, race and marital status. They also include health beliefs, attitudes, values and knowledge about health and health services.
- 2. Enabling factors are supporting factors for services use, including income and ability to pay for health services, health insurance, distribution of health service and healthcare personnel in the area.

3. The need for health services is the experience and awareness in health status of individuals from both medical examination and self- assessment.

Environmental factors are considered in two parts: 1) external environmental factors, which include physical, political and economic factors and 2) healthcare system focusing on national health policy, provided resources and organizations changes in the health care system.

Baker⁽³⁹⁾ used Andersen's Behavioral model to analyze adults' dental service uses in the UK. The study found that the enabling factors including instructions for oral hygiene care, type of services, treatment cost and anxiety for treatment could predict the treatment needs. Then, the needs could predict dental health behavior and the service uses. These two outcomes could predict oral health status and quality of life. In addition, the predisposing factors such as social status and income indirectly affected oral health behavior and dental service uses. Therefore, the result supported Andersen's framework in describing factors associated with the use of dental services and oral health.⁽³⁹⁾

Andersen's model has been used to analyze the use of dental services of working age and the elderly, as well as the general population and specific groups such as patients, minorities and immigrants. In working age population, Lo and colleagues⁽⁴⁰⁾ found that factors affecting the use of adult dental services in Guangdong, China were being female, residing in urban areas, education and dental health knowledge. Vujicic and Nasseh⁽⁴¹⁾ found a correlation between the use of dental services in the United States and the contributing factors related to the economic status, income and health insurance. For the socio-economic disadvantage population, the main factors related to dental service uses were income⁽⁴²⁾, selfassessment for treatment need⁽⁴²⁾, having symptom of oral diseases⁽⁴²⁻⁴³⁾ and having routine (or regular) clinic/hospital.⁽⁴⁴⁾ Sohn and Ismail⁽⁴⁵⁾ also found that, in addition to economic factors, fear of dental treatment can be related to not regularly having dental services. From a study in Sri Lanka⁽⁴⁶⁾, the only two factors within the Andersen's model that related to dental services use of working age population were gender and treatment needs. The study noted that the framework had its limitations and may not be sufficient to analyze with this population.⁽⁴⁶⁾

In elderly population, a review of the literature found that factors related to dental services use include age, race, education, attitude, medical history, residency area, income, health insurance and access to services and attitudes.⁽⁴⁷⁾ Besides the general individual characteristics, cognitive abilities⁽⁴⁸⁾ and community relationship by having interaction with family and neighbors affected the dental service uses among seniors living in the community.⁽⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰⁾ A study in Japan also found that number of remaining teeth, tooth pain and location of the hospital were associated with the use of dental services among senior citizen.⁽⁵¹⁻⁵²⁾ In Thailand, the use of dental services in elderly is also related to transportation, accompanying persons, income and general health condition.⁽⁵³⁻⁵⁴⁾

2.3 Sugar consumption in Thai population

The Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy of the United Kingdom identified that Non-Milk Extrinsic Sugar (NMES) causes tooth decay or dental caries.(55) This sugar refers to all sugar added to food by the manufacturers or consumers, plus natural sugar in honey, syrups and fruit juice concentrates.⁽¹³⁾ The amount and frequency of NMES consumption have a direct correlation to the prevalence of tooth decay.⁽⁸⁾ The occurrence rate of dental caries is rising rapidly when the amount of sugar consumed exceeds 15 kg/person/year. The World Health Organization recommended that the consumption of added sugars in diet should not exceed 5-10 percent of the daily total energy intake.⁽¹³⁾ Therefore, added sugar should not be consumed more than 6-8 teaspoons a day for adults who require 2,000 kcal/day and not more than 4 teaspoons a day for elderly who require 1,600 kcal/day. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)'s food balance sheet data showed that total calories from sugar per capita for Thai population increased from 396 kcal/day in 2007 to 431 kcal/day in 2011.(56) This amount contributed to approximately 19.8% and 21.5%, respectively of total daily required energy of 2,000 kcal for these two periods. This showed that individuals in Thailand are likely to exceed the WHO guideline recommended level of sugar consumption.

The trend of sugar utilization in Thailand has been increasing significantly within the past decades.⁽¹⁰⁾ Data from the Office of the Cane and Sugar Board showed that sugar utilization rate increased from 12.7 kg/person/year in 1983 to 33.8 kg/person/year in 2010 (Figure 3).⁽¹⁰⁾ Total sugar consumption consists of both direct and indirect sugar consumption. The direct sugar consumption referring to the amount of pure sugar sale was higher than the indirect one which referring to sugar sale for food, beverage and pharmaceutical products.⁽¹⁰⁾ The trend for direct consumption was declining, while indirect consumption tended to increase (Figure 4). The beverage industry accounted for the most of indirect sugar consumption as shown in Figure 5.⁽¹⁰⁾



Figure 3 Indirect sugar consumption in Thailand during 1997-2010⁽¹⁰⁾



Figure 4 Direct and indirect sugar consumption of Thai population (1997-2010)⁽¹⁰⁾



Figure 5 Indirect sugar consumption in Thailand during 1997-2010⁽¹⁰⁾

A review from national surveys and individual studies reported that common food sources of sugar in all age groups were sweetened beverages, Thai desserts, table sugar and confectionery.⁽⁵⁷⁾ Among these food sources, sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) represented the largest source of sugar consumption.⁽¹⁰⁻¹²⁾ The sugar content in SSB in Thailand ranges from 10 grams per serving size in diary product and cereal drinks to 34 grams per serving size in soft drinks.⁽⁵⁸⁾ The 2013 national survey on food consumption behavior reported the food consumed by the population aged 6 years and over on the weekly basis as sweet non-alcohol drinks (63.6%), soft drinks (58.3%), and snacks (49.3%).⁽⁵⁹⁾ With the daily consumption, sweet non-alcoholic drinks were also consumed the highest as 25%, followed by soft drinks (6.5%) and snacks (6.9%).⁽⁵⁹⁾ Another study of Thai adults⁽⁶⁰⁻⁶¹⁾ showed that approximately 40% of males and 31% females consumed SSB weekly.

2.4 Social determinants of oral health

Social determinants of health as defined by the World Health Organization are "the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age." ⁽⁶²⁾ These states are determined by economic, political, and local resource allocation at national and global levels.⁽⁶²⁾ Social determinants of health are mostly responsible for inequities in health status seen within and between countries.⁽⁶²⁾ Moreover, the impacts of social determinants of health can be accumulated during the life course and alter people's health trajectories.⁽⁶³⁾ Like the concept of overall health outcomes, oral health shares the same determinants and common risk factors as several non-communicable
diseases (NCDs), such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Oral diseases are associated with socioeconomic status which is related to family income, educational attainment, employment, housing, physical and mental health.⁽⁶⁴⁾

Oral health disparities have been reported worldwide and the most common problem included dental caries, periodontitis, tooth loss, effect on oral health-related quality of life, as well as the access to preventive treatment.⁽⁶⁵⁾ Earlier studies on inequality of oral health in the population have used various socio-economic indicators such as the Human Development Index (HDI), urbanization status, and Gross Domestic Product (GDP) to measure inequality in oral health in low- and middle-income countries. These indices indicate structural and mediating factors that affect oral health.⁽⁶⁶⁾ More recent studies focused on the process or measures to reduce the differences in oral health problems among population with different social factors.⁽⁶⁷⁾ The World Health Organization's Commission on Social Determinants of Health offers a framework that outlines the major determinants of oral health inequalities relate to each other (Figure 6).⁽⁶⁸⁾ It highlights the importance of the structural determinants which refer to the socio-economic and political contexts that generate the social gradients in society and the socio-economic position. The intermediary determinants refer to how socio-economic position then influences health through the circumstances and risk of oral diseases. Social determinant perspective helps to widen the focus on the broader social, community, environment and economic distal factors that are the underlying drivers of proximal biological and behavioral influences on oral health inequalities.⁽⁶⁹⁾ In addition, the social determinants are dynamic in nature. Adverse social conditions in early life have a particularly significant effect across the life course and negatively impact health later in adult life.⁽⁷⁰⁾



gure o conceptual model for oral neatth inequali

Chulalongkorn University

In a systematic review by Costa and colleagues⁽⁷¹⁾, they presented the relationship between socioeconomic indicators and dental caries. They found that the level of education, income, occupation and the Gini coefficient were associated with higher occurrence of dental caries across 41 studies in the review. Racial and ethnic disparities are prevalent for oral health indicators, especially for untreated dental caries and periodontitis in various age groups.⁽⁷²⁻⁷³⁾ Untreated dental caries in the United States were significantly higher for those living at or below the poverty level compared

with those living above the poverty level.⁽⁷⁴⁾ Vettore and colleagues⁽⁷⁵⁾ also found that low social status and low social connection were the major factors of tooth loss, perceived poor oral health and smoking in adult population. Oral health inequalities were found to vary in different age groups. An analysis of Adult Dental Health survey in England, Wales and Northern Ireland showed that there was a complex relationship of inequalities with age, rather than a uniform pattern of social gradients and oral health outcome across all adulthood. The income gradients were significant for numbers of teeth in older adults but not for the younger groups.⁽⁷⁶⁾

While there have been improvement in oral health status globally, the disadvantages and vulnerable populations continue to suffer in their access to dental service.⁽⁶⁴⁾ The main socioeconomic factors related to dental services in these population were income and health insurance.⁽⁴²⁾ Health literacy can also affect oral healthcare use and oral health outcome. Poor oral health literacy contributes to poor access because people may not realize the susceptibility and severity of oral disease and the importance of oral healthcare. They may not know the option for accessing oral healthcare in their community.⁽⁶⁴⁾ Beyond the demand side, healthcare resources and dental workforce planning are also essential to provide access to oral health services.⁽⁷⁷⁾ Evidence from Scotland suggested that payment methods for provider affect the utilization of dental examination.⁽⁷⁸⁾

2.5 Sugar-sweetened beverage tax (SSB tax)

Increasing number of governments, organizations, and advocators have proposed taxes on unhealthy food and drinks to improve nutrition and health outcome in population.⁽¹⁴⁾ For example, the British Medical Association has addressed the taxes on high-sugar products.⁽⁷⁹⁾ The US Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee recommended taxes to encourage the production and consumption of healthy foods and reduce unhealthy food.⁽⁸⁰⁾ There is a strong evidence that identify the excessive sugar consumption as contributing factor for obesity, diabetes and other metabolic health risks.⁽¹⁴⁾ Sugar in beverages may be a special concern. The review examined the satiety effect of carbohydrates suggested that liquid carbohydrate, particularly sugarsweetened beverages, produces less satiety than the solid form⁽⁸¹⁾. The individuals who consume soda and other sugar-sweetened beverages will lead to greater caloric consumption than those consuming solid-state calories.⁽⁸¹⁾ Reducing liquid sugar may be particularly effective at reducing obesity and other health risks. However, the most efficient approach would be to tax sugar contents in all food and drink in order to reduce sugar consumption in population; in practice policymakers often choose the narrow target for taxing such as sugar-sweetened beverages.

Nutrition taxes can be designed into three main categories: focusing on content, volume, or sales.⁽¹⁴⁾ Taxing sugar content could produce the biggest effect among those three types. The tax would increase the price of SSB, encouraging consumers to consume less and the industries to promote less sugar alternative products or

reformulation their product ingredients.⁽¹⁴⁾ Table 2 illustrates the three types of tax designs to reduce consumption of added sugar in sweetened beverage.

	Tax Base	2	
	Sugar content	Volume	Sales value
	(per gram	(per liter)	(percent of retail
			price)
Consumers cut back on	11/2		
sugar drinks			v
Business develop and			/
promote zero-sugar			v
drinks			
Consumers cannot avoid			X
tax by buying cheaper			
drinks	AGA		
Consumers shift to lower		Х	X
sugar drinks			
Businesses develop and		Х	X
promote lower sugar			
drinks			
3	Y		

Table 2 SSB tax designs and their possible effects ⁽¹⁴⁾

In several countries, SSB tax policies have been implemented in different forms and rates. In 2011, Hungary used the tax rate of 0.02 USD per liter for the beverages with sugar content exceeding 8 grams per 100 milliliters.⁽⁸²⁾ In 2014, Mexico used the rate of 0.05 USD per liter, and found that the retail prices of such drinks increased 10-12 percent. Early reports show that the purchases of soft drinks in the country decreased by 10 per cent.⁽⁸³⁾ In 2015, the SSB tax was implemented at the rate of 1 cent per ounce in Berkeley, California, the United States but the retail prices increased less than half of the tax.⁽⁸⁴⁾ With the limitation in empirical evidences, several studies use mathematical simulation to study the possible outcome of SSB tax. Several modeling studies suggested that it will lead to a reduction in sugar consumption, average daily calorie intake and BMI.⁽⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷⁾ However, these results depend on assumptions about how consumers would adjust their consumption behaviors. There are many factors associated with the impact of a tax on consumption, such as changes in prices and demand, effect of taxes on retail prices, strategies of the manufacturing sector and the response of consumers. These factors may influence the results of the tax and cause unpredicted consequences.⁽¹⁴⁾

SSB tax may cause people to switch to other beverages like fruit juice, milk and alcohol drinks.⁽⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹⁾ When the substitute drinks with high sugar content are increasingly consumed, the net sugar consumption would not reduce as the SSB tax policy intended. Several studies found these substitution effect and the result in reduced consumption ranging from little to moderate effect.^(87, 89) Another unintended consequence may include the consumers' abilities to buy the targeted products without paying tax such as purchasing from illegal market and other countries or cities like the case of soda tax in city of Berkeley, California.⁽⁶⁴⁾ Moreover, one major concern for taxing unhealthy foods and drinks is how the tax burden would be shared across society. Households with lower incomes and less education may be the larger consumers of sugar-sweetened drinks. Thus, SSB tax will be regressive by imposing a larger financial burden on the disadvantage consumers than the higher income counterparts.⁽¹⁴⁾

Thai National Reform Steering Assembly's committee on public health and environment proposed an introduction of SSB tax, to be included as part of the Excise Tax Act B.E. 2017. This proposal was then passed by the legislature and enacted in September 16, 2017.⁽¹⁸⁾ Sugar-sweetened beverages subject to the new excise tax include mineral water and carbonated soft drinks with added sugar, fruit and vegetable juices, coffee, tea, energy drinks and beverage concentrates for vending machines. This SSB tax adopts a mix tax rate system with both ad valorem and specific rate. The ad valorem part is calculated from the suggested retail price while the specific tax depends on the sugar content of the product. The tiered tax levy will be adjusted every 2 years from September 2017 until 2023. Beverages with over 6 grams per 100 ml will be subject to the specific SSB tax. Higher sugar level in a beverage, the higher rate of tax is applied.⁽¹⁸⁾ According to the tiered tax levy, the government is encouraging the beverage industry to reformulate their products by having 2 years period to adjust the rate.

With this policy levy, it is expected that sugar content of SSB products will reduce and eventually lead to healthier choice and lower sugar consumption among Thai population. A study of SSB intake among Thai people aged 10-35 years old found that 40 percent of samples (2,238 people) reported their preferences in drinking sugar beverage and almost 50 percent of them consumed more than 3 days per week. The samples also reported their opinions on SSB consumption when SSB price increased. The results showed that 8.6 percent of them would stop drinking SSB if the price increased 25 percent. Additionally, every 25 percent of SSB price rise, the percentage of reported stop drinking increased by 50 percent.⁽⁹⁰⁾ Bhadrakom's study on the potential impact of SSB price changes on the consumption of Thai population⁽⁹¹⁾ suggested that the 10 percent proposed tax on SSB (theoretically equal to 10 percent increase in price) would lead to the reduction in SSB demand for the whole population by 7.76 percent in short term and 9.37 percent in long term. The reductions were much higher among low income households (14.59% short term, 16.93% long term) than high income household (3.85% short term, 4.55% long term) both for short and long term period.⁽⁹¹⁾

However, the effect of SSB tax on sugar consumption and dental caries is not straightforward. It is uncertain whether a tax increase will translate into lower sugar consumption and better oral health outcomes. Understanding the causal mechanism through which SSB tax will translate into lower sugar consumption and improved oral health is important in identifying a leverage point for interventions. In addition, it is vital to engage all stakeholders to develop a deeper understanding with a whole system perspective on the dynamic interactions between SSB tax, sugar consumption, and oral health outcomes.

2.6 Complex systems and system dynamics model

Complex systems approaches have been applied to public health issues such as the outbreak of influenza⁽⁹²⁾, obesity⁽⁹³⁾, diabetes⁽⁹⁴⁾, AIDS and sexually transmitted infections.⁽⁹⁵⁾ An important characteristic of complex systems is the interaction of various elements within the system which may be nonlinear and involve with reverse relationships (feedback loops). The results of the interaction cause the new phenomenon or emergent behaviors which are not simply the sum of the individual components, but the result of the interaction as the whole. Moreover, the systems can change (dynamic) or adapt constantly (adaptive) and some changes may not occur immediately (delay).⁽⁹⁶⁾

In oral health problems, several factors including personal, social and environmental factors can influence one another in a complex relationship over time. Those factors also adapt to change as time passes.^(20, 22) Most traditional studies using epidemiological approach have analyzed the factors that affect oral health in separate parts. These studies may be limited because they fail to show the nonlinear and feedback relationship and may not reflect the impact of other unintended consequences.⁽²²⁾ Table 3 compares the traditional to complex system approach assumption into seven domains.

Domain	Traditional analytic techniques	Complex systems	
Functional form	Linearity	Non-linearity	
Common distributions	Normality	Non-normality	
Characteristics of actors	Homogeneity	Heterogeneity	
Level of analysis	Single level	Multiple levels	
Temporality	Static, or discretely longitudinal	Dynamic with feedback	
Fundamental relationships	Among variables	Interaction of actors	
Perspective	Reductionist	Holistic	

Table 3 Comparison of traditional and complex systems analytic assumptions

There are some developed tools and methods for describing and analyzing complex systems, strategic planning and evaluating programs. The systematic review of Carey and colleagues⁽⁹⁷⁾ found that the application of systems-oriented approach in public health can be categorized into 4 types, 1) outlining the potential of system science concept for public health in general or specific areas, 2) using systems concepts for analysis of data collected through general methodology, 3) using system methodologies to benchmark or evaluate public health practice, and 4) using system modeling to provide insight into public health problem and how to address them. The study also suggested that soft systems modeling was useful to deploy in public health.⁽⁹⁷⁾ The primary methods frequently used to study complex health systems include system dynamics modeling, network analysis and agent-based modeling.⁽⁹⁸⁾

System dynamics model is a mathematical model developed in the 1950s by Professor Jay W. Forrester from The Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).⁽⁹⁹⁾ It originally arose in management and engineering sciences from the need to explicitly model non-linear processes that are characteristic of complex circumstance such as the unintended consequences, policy resistance, counterintuitive behavior of the systems.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ Then, it was developed into an analytical tool for economic, physical, chemical, biological and ecological systems. It has also been applied to medical and public health issues.⁽²³⁾ System dynamics models are used to understand complex systems which have feedback relationships and change over time. It describes how the behavior and relationships of the variables contribute to the system behavior as a whole.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾

In principle, system dynamics has two aspects: qualitative and quantitative parts. The qualitative aspect involves mapping the causal relationships between key factors in the systems and identifying feedback loops which cause certain behaviors. The primary tool used in this process is Causal Loop Diagram (CLD). CLD is used to illustrate the mental model, highlighting causality and feedback loops. It is often developed using a participatory approach with stakeholders interested in the problems. CLD consists of variables and links that aid in visualizing how different variables and concepts in a system are interrelated. Each relationship was described with an arrow and a positive or negative sign indicating the polarities of the relationship. A link with positive polarity indicates that the two variables change in the same

direction; while a negative polarity means a change in the opposite direction. A feedback loop occurs when the output of a variable in the cause-effect chain is routed back to the cause variable to form a circle. There are two types of feedback loops—reinforcing and balancing loops. Reinforcing feedback loop represents the increase or decrease of one variable and then the same effect through the relationships will return to the same variable. While in balancing feedback loop, the increase or decrease in one variable will returns a decrease or increase (opposite direction) to the same variable. Figure 7 shows the example of CLD for population dynamics.



Figure 7 Example of causal loop diagram representing population dynamics

The quantitative aspect involves the development of simulation models which consist of series of differential equations representing the interaction among set of variables in the systems. The conceptual model from the qualitative part is converted into mathematical terms and executable equations to investigate the interaction and behavior of the outcome of interest. The existing policies or scenario planning related to the outcome can also be investigated using the model structure. Specialized computer software is required during this process. Examples of the core software widely used in SD modeling are iThink[®] and STELLA[®] (isee systems), Powersim Studio (Powersim Software), Vensim[®] and Ventity (Ventana System, Inc.). The primary tools used in this part is Stock and Flow Diagram (SFD). SFD primarily consists of three groups of variables: stocks, flows and auxiliary variables. Stocks (state variables) are accumulations over periods of time that characterize the state of the system. Flows (rates of change) are entities that make changes (increase or decrease) to the accumulations of stocks. The assumption used to build SD model is that the structure can be represented using a series of stock and flow variables.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ Auxiliary variables are other variables (besides stocks and flows) that interact with or be influenced by flows and other variables to make the model complete. The example of SFD representing the population dynamics from the above CLD is shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8 Example of stock and flow diagram representing population dynamics

System dynamics model has been used to analyze the dental public health problems such as dental services system in the Netherlands⁽²⁵⁾, oral health problem and related factors of elderly living in urban area in the United States.⁽²⁶⁾ These studies suggested that stakeholders should communicate and be involved in the modeling process. Lui and colleagues used system dynamic modeling to study SSB tax policy

and to evaluate its sustainability and the impact versus other measures. Their study proposed the framework for policymaker to understand the system and introduced policy alternatives for obesity prevention in children in the United States.⁽²⁷⁾ Udompanich used system dynamics modeling to develop a delivery care model of dental public health in the community level in Thailand.⁽²⁸⁾ His study estimated the demand for dental personnel during the year 1995-2015. It also suggested that SD modeling could be used to generate alternative solutions for the production and allocation of dentists and dental nurses to support the decisions of policy makers at national level.^(28, 101) Several factors related to dental services providing services and the treatment needs were covered. However, it did not consider the economic and social factors that are fundamental causes of oral health status. Recently, there are few studies using complex systems approaches in dental public health issues.⁽²⁵⁻²⁸⁾

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER III

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Research design

This study uses system dynamics modeling to study oral health problem, specifically dental caries and its complex interaction with related variables and the changes over time. The study has two aspects: qualitative and quantitative.

The qualitative aspect involves mapping the causal relationships between key factors in the system and identifying feedback loops which cause the oral health behaviors and outcomes of interest. The modeling processes in this part includes problem articulation and developing dynamics hypothesis.

The quantitative aspect involves the development of mathematical simulation models representing the interaction among set of variables related to dental caries and SSB tax policy which were identified from the qualitative part. The modeling processes include formulation of simulation model, model testing and policy analysis.

3.2 Study population

3.2.1 Target population: citizen of Thailand aged 15 years and older

3.2.2 Sample population: target population who were included in the

secondary databases used in the model.

3.2.3 Unit of analysis: the whole country, divided into subgroups by age, gender and income according to variables related within the model.

3.3 Modeling process

The system dynamics modeling process consists of five primary steps. Each step is iterative which can be repeated several times after the later steps.

3.3.1 Problem articulation (Boundary selection)

- The problems to be considered including dental caries status and sugar consumption of Thai population were specified by using the data gathered from secondary data and literature review of documents/research related to oral health and SSB tax policy.
- The stakeholder analysis was conducted to identify stakeholders involved in SSB tax policy and its consequences (problem of interest in this study). Following the framework for stakeholder identification, assessment and prioritization, the three steps of questions were considered.
 - 1) Who can affect or be affected by the SSB policy?
 - 2) How should each stakeholder contribute to the policy? What are their potential interests in the policy?
 - 3) Which stakeholders should be the high priority of involvement?

Then, identify the stakeholders with high impact on SSB policy and

contact them as key informants for the interviews.

The detail stakeholder analysis matrix is shown in Appendix A.

• The in-depth interviews were conducted with the key informants in the groups identified by prior stakeholder analysis. The purposes of these key informant interviews were to gain an in-depth understanding of the perspectives of multi-sector stakeholders on the SSB tax policy and its possible consequences on sugar consumption and oral health outcomes.

Seven key informants were purposively selected from: Thai consumers' foundation (1); Thai association of SSB industry (1); health economist and researcher (2); the Bureau of Dental Public Health, Department of Health, the Ministry of Public Health (1); and the Excise Department, Thai Ministry of Finance (2). Each informant was interviewed for a period of 30–60 minutes at their workplaces, using a semi-structured, open-ended questionnaire. All the key informants read and signed the written informed consent prior to the interview.

The interview questions covered a broad list of issues including sugar content in SSB and sugar consumption, general and oral health outcome as a consequence of sugar consumption, and concerns on the SSB tax, as well as the expected barriers and consequences of SSB tax from the stakeholder's perspectives. The interviews were note-taken, audio-recorded and transcribed. The questions and summary of the answers from the interview are shown in Appendix B. Transcripts from the interview were analyzed for the next process.

Group Model Building (GMB), an established methodology for engaging stakeholders to gain mutual understanding of complex relationships related to the SSB tax policy, sugar consumption, dental services use, and oral health outcome, was conducted for 2 sessions in Bangkok. In boundary selection step, GMB's purpose was to determine key variables to be included in understanding the dynamics of SSB tax and oral health outcomes; the time horizon; and the reference modes of the key variables.

<u>GMB session 1:</u> The participants in the GMB session 1 included 7 stakeholders from different sectors: dental public health and Thai Dental Council (4) and public health policy experts (3) of which two have expertise in systems thinking. They were purposively selected with the inclusion criteria of having at least 10 years of experience working in their respective fields. GMB session 1 consists of four activities: 1) Identifying the main outcomes of interest and time horizon, 2) Identifying key variables, 3) Identifying the reference modes of the key variables and 4) Developing causal loop diagram. The scripts for group activities/tasks used during the sessions were developed from "scriptapedia version 4.0.6".⁽¹⁰²⁾ Detailed notes and audio-recording was taken by an assistant of the modeling team.

Activity 1: Identifying the main outcomes of interest and time horizon.

The main concept of system thinking and objectives of the study were introduced. Then, the participants were asked to consider a dynamic relationship between oral health outcomes and sugar consumption through a facilitator-led discussion. The discussion mainly focused on oral health outcomes that oral health intervention could influence; and the time horizon to consider for this study. Each participant articulated the oral health outcomes that policy makers should track when they implement such oral health interventions. All the responses were written on a large whiteboard. The mutually agreed time horizon and set of outcomes were proposed after the discussion and clarification of each outcome variables.

Activity 2: Identifying key variables.

The researcher led the participants to identify as many variables as possible that could affect or be affected by the outcomes identified in **Activity 1**. The summary of the key informants' interviews was also presented to the group to provide details input from the interviews. Participants were given an opportunity to ask clarifying questions on each listed variable. The variables were added or removed until all mutually agreed by the participants. Then, the key variables were categorized into identifiable groups.

Activity 3: Identifying the reference modes of the key variables.

This activity focused on current understanding of the behavior of variables of interest by the stakeholders. First, the "behavior over time" graph or reference modes was introduced to stakeholders, then a graph of dental caries prevalence in Thailand was presented. The participants discussed the prevalence of caries and were given an opportunity to select some outcome variables and graph their behavior overtime considering: (1) past trends; (2) future trends, if current policies remain unchanged; and (3) what the behavior over time would be with different oral health interventions.

3.3.2 Formulation of dynamic hypothesis

• The focus of this process was to develop a dynamic hypothesis that explain the dynamic relationships between SSB tax, sugar consumption and oral health outcomes in the feedback structure. **Causal Loop** **Diagram (CLD)** was used as a tool to capture the complex interactions or causal relationships of the key variables.

Activity 4: Developing Causal Loop Diagram.

The example of CLD were presented and explained in details to the participants. The participants were asked to collectively construct causal relationships and feedback mechanisms among key variables identified from the prior activities based on their expertise and the qualitative data from the interview. The facilitated discussion was conducted to clarify the meaning of the relationship among variables. After several rounds of discussion and adjustments, all participants agreed with the first draft of CLD. During the discussion, the draft diagram was written on the whiteboard and then was transferred into Vensim[®] DSS version 7.2 (Ventana Inc.) modeling software.⁽¹⁰³⁾

• <u>GMB session 2:</u> This session was conducted several weeks after the first session. The session consisted of some stakeholders who participated in the first session (4) and other stakeholders from the Thai Ministry of Public Health (1) and the Fiscal Policy office (2). The aim of this session was to validate the causal loop diagram of oral health outcomes and SSB tax by verifying the variables and their relationships, as well as the assumptions underlying these interactions. After reviewing the CLD from GMB session

1, the participants were asked to identify the variables and the causal linkages that they would like to revise or/and add. The discussion then continued until the causal loop diagram could reasonably capture the dynamic interactions among oral health outcomes, sugar consumption and SSB tax in Thailand. The final CLD was presented to stakeholders for their final approval.

3.3.3 Formulation of a simulation model

- This quantitative process involved formalizing the conceptual framework (CLD) created from the prior process into mathematical model, gathering the information, setting the basic parameters in the model from literature review and/or from secondary data, and/or estimate from expert opinion. Stock and Flow Diagram (SFD) was developed for this simulation model using Vensim[®] DSS version 7.2 (Ventana Inc.) modeling software.
- The SFD consists of interacting sets of differential and mathematical equations developed from a broad range of relevant empirical data to capture the interrelationship of various key variables and oral health outcomes. Model structure was divided into 4 sub-models including: Population, Oral health, Sugar consumption and Oral health service utilization. The final model structure was presented in chapter IV (System dynamics model structure).

- During the model development process, oral health policy experts were consulted to verify the assumptions and the outcome measures.
- After verification, the model was parameterized using a series of empirical data. When data were not available, estimates from experts were used. Detailed parameters are shown in Appendix D. Finally, the model was simulated to generate base-case scenario to identify potential points of intervention to improve oral health.
- Main outcomes of interest in this model:
 - Numbers of population with dental caries experiences in each severity group using DMFT score. The criteria used to categorize DMFT severity group is shown in Table 4.
 - 2. Proportion of population with untreated dental caries in each severity group using DMFT score
 - 3. SSB consumption for poverty, non-poverty group and total

population.

4. Sugar consumption from beverages for poverty, non-poverty

group and total population.

Table 4 DMFT severity criteria used in this study (modified from WHO severity criteria for level of dental caries experience in permanent dentition)

DMFT severity group	Age group 15-34 years old	Age group 35 years and older
Very low	< 1.2	< 5.0
Low	1.2-2.6	5.0-8.9
Moderate	2.7-4.4	9.0-13.9
High	>4.4	>13.9

- Data sources:
 - 1. Thai population data was obtained from Thailand Official

Statistics Registration Systems, Department of Provincial

Administration, The Ministry of Interior. (104)

- 2. Fertility rates were obtained from The World Bank Group.⁽¹⁰⁵⁾
- 3. Mortality rates were obtained from Thailand Public Health

Statistics Report 2000, Bureau of Policy and Strategy, Ministry of

Public Health.⁽¹⁰⁶⁾

4. The proportion of population in each DMFT severity group with treated or untreated dental caries condition, the proportion of population with regular dental visit, the proportion of population with perceived need for dental treatment and the proportion of population with oral health self-care were estimated from the Thai national oral health survey data in 2000-2001, 2006-2007 and 2012 from the Bureau of Dental Public Health, Department of Health, Ministry of Public Health.

- Average sugar consumption of the Thai population (2000-2015) was obtained from the consumption data provided by the Thailand Office of the Cane and Sugar Board, Ministry of Industry.⁽¹⁰⁷⁾
- Consumption of SSB was estimated from the report of food consumption data of Thailand 2006, The National Bureau of Agriculture Commodity and Food Standards ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ and Thai National Statistical Office, Ministry of Information and Communication Technology.
- 7. Proportion of poverty and non-poverty population was obtained from poverty data from Thai National Statistical

Office, Ministry of Information and Communication Technology.

3.3.4 Model testing

Model testing was conducted to verify the model's validity and to gain confidence in the insights and recommendations emerging from the model. This study used two primary approaches for model testing.

• Structure-based validation was conducted to test the validity of the

structure in order to ensure whether the model is suitable for its purpose

and consistent with the real situation. Part of this process was conducted

by researchers and experts in regarding the real system and the process included in the GMB session 2. The goals of structure-based validation are:

1. To test the suitability of the structure.

First, the dimensional accuracy of the model equations and unit consistency of all variables were checked. Then, the model structure was checked to ensure that the equations were reasonable on extreme conditions. Finally, the model boundary was checked to ensure that it contained all the necessary variables and feedback structure to address the purpose of the study. The model boundary also was reviewed to include additional variables important to form feedback structure and for model testing.

2. To test the consistency of the model outcomes with the real system.

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

The model structure and its parameters were evaluated by the researcher and experts from the GMB. The model structure was evaluated to ensure it capture the important aspects of the actual system of dental caries, SSB and sugar consumption issues. The parameters were compared with the information available.

• Behavior-based validation was conducted to test the accuracy of the system behavior. The simulated behaviors of main variables

(population, dental caries status, dental treatment status and sugar consumption) were compared with the historical reference data. The model output and data were also compared qualitatively for the patterns and trends of behavior. Sensitivity analysis was performed to check the robustness of the simulated behavior when the assumption changes.

Finally, the model was adjusted using model calibration and optimization function for the sensitive parameters. The model was simulated under the base case and alternative policies.

3.3.5 Policy formulation and evaluation

Four policy scenarios were developed for the purpose of this study. The main policy was the SSB tax. The other hypothetical scenarios were selected in response to the range of possibilities identified by stakeholders. All four scenarios in addition to the base-case were explored.

- Base-case: The base-case simulation assumes that all model parameters and key variables remain unchanged over the simulation run. This simulation serves as a reference point for comparing four scenarios mentioned below.
- Policy 1: This scenario assumes the SSB tax as the actual excise tax implemented in Thailand since September 2017. The changes in this

simulation started from 2018 to 2040 with the tired levy depending on sugar content in SSB (Appendix E).

- Policy 2: This scenario assumes the implementation of health promotion program over the time period of 2018 to 2040.
- Policy 3: This scenario assumes the gradually increase in intake of dental students from 933 person in 2018 to 1200 person in 2040. In addition, the proportion of the poverty population who have financial accessibility to the dental treatment is assumed to gradually increase from 40% in 2018 to 80% in 2040 with the steady rate of change each year.
- Policy 4: This scenario assumes the combined implementation of policy
 1, policy 2 and policy 3.

Sensitivity analysis was performed on all the scenarios proposed in the study to observe the value of parameter changes would affect the main outcomes of interest (population in each DMFT group and sugar consumption). The parameters used in the sensitivity analysis are shown in Table 5. Using multivariate sensitivity analysis, the values of each parameters were varied by 20 percent on both sides, and a uniform distribution for each parameter was assumed. Then minimum and maximum values at 95 percent confidence level for each run were used to show the credible interval, in addition to the mean values. The exception is the parameter on percent reduction in SSB sugar which was calculated using a range from 10 to 50 percent to

reflect the actual situation in SSB sample products after the introduction of SSB tax as well as the range proposed by experts.

	Baseline		
Input parameter	value	Min	Max
VL to L transition rate	0.063	0.0504	0.0756
L to M transition rate	0.066	0.0528	0.0792
M to H transition rate	0.063	0.0504	0.0756
elasticity of affordability	0.01	0.008	0.012
elasticity of capacity	0.01	0.008	0.012
elasticity of perception (Very Low DMFT)	0.8	0.64	0.96
elasticity of perception (Low DMFT)	0.05	0.04	0.06
elasticity of perception (Moderate DMFT)	0.4	0.32	0.48
elasticity of perception (High DMFT)	0.8	0.64	0.96
elasticity of sugar consumption	0.6	0.48	0.72
elasticity of price (poverty)	-1.46	-1.168	-1.752
elasticity of price (non-poverty)	-0.39	-0.312	-0.468
Percent reduce SSB sugar		0.5	0.9

Table 5 Parameters, baseline values, and their range in sensitivity analysis

3.4 Ethical Consideration

The ethical approval for this study was granted from the Institutional

Review Board (IRB) of Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University. The study

protocol followed 3 basis ethical principles of the Belmont Report (1979).

Respect for person: The information from the secondary data did not have to reveal the identity of an individual. In addition, the data in each variables of interest were calculated to form a relationship for the whole population. For the qualitative data collection and participatory group process, the voluntary written consents were obtained prior to the process and all participants' confidentiality were protected. The opinions and decisions of the participants were respected and the results of the study did not specify the individual's opinion.

Beneficence/Non-maleficence: The agency providing the information and the participants in the study may not be the direct beneficiaries. However, the result of this study can provide recommendation for the dental public health intervention and SSB tax which it is expected to benefit the whole population.

Justice: Both qualitative and quantitative process implemented as the **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** principles set forth, without prejudice to the results of the study and the benefit of any agency or person. There were also no conflicts of interest with the relevant authorities and the researchers.

CHAPTER IV

SYSTEM DYNAMICS MODEL STRUCTURE

4.1 Causal loop diagram

Figure 9 shows the final causal loop diagram which contain two main components: oral health care (illustrate with blue arrow in Figure 9) and SSB consumption care (illustrate with red arrow in Figure 9). This diagram serves as the dynamic hypothesis for this study. It includes eight feedback loops, which consist of seven balancing feedback loops (B1-B7) and one reinforcing feedback loop (R1). The pathways of the feedback loop are described in Table 6.

Table 6 The pathway of feedback loops identified in the causal loop diagram

Feedback loop	Paths
B1	$1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 9 \rightarrow 10 \rightarrow 7 \rightarrow 8 \rightarrow 1$
B2	$1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 9 \rightarrow 13 \rightarrow 15 \rightarrow 8 \rightarrow 1$
B3ุฬาล	$1 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 5 \rightarrow 1$
B4	$5 \rightarrow 7 \rightarrow 8 \rightarrow 1 \rightarrow 6 \rightarrow 5$
B5	$5 \rightarrow 1 \rightarrow 6 \rightarrow 5$
B6	$16 \rightarrow 14 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 9 \rightarrow 19 \rightarrow 16$
B7	$20 \rightarrow 19 \rightarrow 25 \rightarrow 20$
R1	$16 \rightarrow 17 \rightarrow 18 \rightarrow 19 \rightarrow 16$



Figure 9 Causal loop diagram of dental caries, sugar consumption and SSB tax

4.1.1 Oral health care

From the perspective of the stakeholders, dental caries—the main outcomes of interest—is caused by demineralization at the tooth surface. This demineralization occurs when cariogenic bacteria in dental plaques turns consumed sugar into acid. The acid produced promotes mineral loss from the enamel. When frequent and prolonged demineralization occurs, which exceeds the capability of a tooth to absorb back the mineral or remineralization over a period of time, the enamel surface will dissolve to become cavities or dental caries. Poor oral hygiene practices and low fluoride use further contributes to more dental plaque formation, which can enhance the demineralization process.

For oral health interventions, the stakeholders identified several factors including low oral health awareness, inadequate oral health service capacity (human and infrastructure), and poor affordability of oral health services as the **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** main reasons for low dental care services utilization. Five balancing feedback loops that slow the growth of dental caries were identified.

The feedback loop B1 postulates that as the prevalence of dental caries increases at the population level, the Ministry of Public Health will respond with an oral health promotion program nationwide to educate the population on oral health. An oral health promotion campaign is assumed to increase oral health literacy in the population, which then increases oral health awareness and leads to behavior modification among the population, albeit with a significant delay. Behavior modification at the population level is assumed to reduce unhealthy habits, such as lack of oral hygiene care and no fluoride use. These will eventually decrease the prevalence of dental caries with a significant delay over time. While the Feedback loop B1 demonstrates that the prevalence of dental caries can be reduced by oral hygiene care and fluoride use, **the feedback loop B2** assumes that behavior modification can lead to a reduction in sugar consumption, which decreases the production of acid by cariogenic bacteria and reduces dental caries prevalence.

For the feedback loop B3, dental caries progression will cause pain and discomfort, which is assumed to increase oral health awareness and oral health treatment over time. When oral health treatment increases, dental caries are assumed to decrease. The feedback loop B4 postulates that oral health treatment, such as scaling, root planning and filling, will impact bacterial plaque formation, which eventually decreases the prevalence of dental caries, dental symptoms and the need for oral health treatment. For the feedback loop B5, as oral health treatment increases, prevalence of dental caries is assumed to decrease, further reducing dental symptoms and treatment.

4.1.2 SSB consumption

For the purpose of this study, SSB is defined as any pre-packaged sugar sweetened beverage available to the public. In the CLD as shown in Figure 8, sugar consumption is assumed: (1) to increase as per capita SSB consumption and other sugar consumption increases; and (2) to decrease as low-sugarcontent drinks increase while decreasing high sugar content drinks. SSB consumption per capita increases herein as SSB preference among the population rises. SSB preference is determined by SSB social marketing, SSB retail price, and behavior modification programs. The stakeholders hypothesized that as SSB consumption per capita increases, SSB industry profits will increase. With increased profits, more resources are made available for social marketing, which is expected to further increase SSB preference and consumption. This dynamic relationship is captured in **the reinforcing feedback loop R1**.

For the balancing feedback loop B7, the stakeholders argued that as SSB tax is implemented, retail price of SSB is expected to increase. As retail price rises, population preference for SSB is assumed to decrease. As a result, the SSB consumption per capita, the SSB industry profits and the intensity of social marketing are assumed to decrease over time. The reduction in consumer's preference for SSB will lead to more tax absorption and cost cutting measures by the SSB producers to reduce SSB retail price, and to maintain the customer base for SSB.
The stakeholders agreed that if the retail price of SSB increases due to SSB tax, two outcomes can be hypothesized: (1) likely increase in consumption of low sugar content drinks; or (2) substitution of SSB for non-taxed high sugar content drinks. The stakeholders argued that, to avoid the substitution effect, SSB tax should be applied to all high sugar content products without exception. Moreover, it was hypothesized that an SSB tax could encourage the SSB industries to reformulate their SSB products to reduce the sugar content in order to avoid the SSB tax. Therefore, the availability of low sugar SSB in the market will increase, which will likely lead to an increase in low sugar drinks consumption. For **the feedback loop B6**, the implementation of an SSB tax has a potential to generate revenue, which could be used for an oral health promotion program to improve oral health capacity and/or to subsidize oral health services.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

4.2 Stock and flow diagram

The stock and flow diagram serve as the quantitative simulation model in this

study. The model comprises of four sub-model: population, dental caries, oral

health service utilization and sugar consumption

4.2.1 Population sub-model



Figure 10 Stock and flow diagram: Population sub-model

The population sub-model (Figure 10) was first developed to project the population of Thailand from age 0 to age 100 and older. The base population from this sector then was used for the oral disease prevalence in

target population of adults aged 15 and older.

The model structure illustrates the stock of population in Thailand with the aging process. The population stock is disaggregated by single year age cohorts (age 0—age 100 and older) and by gender (female, male).⁽¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹⁰⁾ The flow of birth is a function of total fertility rate and fecund population (sexually active female cohort) which results in an increase in population, whereas the flow of death is determined by age specific mortality rates from life tables and number of population that serve to decrease the population. Net migration is the difference between immigration (transition from foreign labor to permanent resident status) and emigration (resident population migrating from Thailand to other countries). Net migration rate is determined through calibration.

In the aging process, birth flow into the first age cohort while the surviving population in each age cohort flows into the subsequent cohort, with the exception of the final age cohort (age 100 and older). The non-surviving contingent in each age cohort is removed via an outflow that reflects the mortality for that age cohort. The population sub-model is calibrated using national statistical data that is publicly available.⁽¹¹¹⁾



Figure 11 Stock and flow diagram: Dental caries sub-model

75

The dental caries sub-model is the simplified version—showing only sub-model for age 15-34 years (Figure 11). It illustrates the process of dental caries experience progression. In this sub-model, the Thai population aged 15 years and older were divided into 4 main categories: very low DMFT, low DMFT, moderate DMFT and high DMFT. The categories were defined using standards set by the World Health Organization for two representative age bands, namely 12 years and 35-44 years.⁽³⁵⁾

In this model, for the population aged 15-34, the standard for 12 years was used and the standard for 35-44 years was applied to the population aged 35 and older. Subsequently, the very low, low, moderate and high DMFT groups were each further divided into two groups: completely treated for dental caries and untreated. Population in the treated groups were the ones with no normative treatment need and no need for a dental prosthesis, while the untreated groups included the rest who still required treatment.

The process of dental caries experience progression allows for movement of the population across the various DMFT group, from very low to low; low to moderate; and moderate to high DMFT. As DMFT scores of individuals cannot decrease over the lifetime by virtue of their definition, transitions across DMFT categories are progressive and uni-directional. Transitions across treatment status were captured in the oral health sector: from untreated to treated and vice versa, for each DMFT category. Transition through DMFT severity group was estimated by the transition rate between each stage, modified by the effect of oral hygiene (how changes in oral hygiene modifies transition rates).

The population aged 14 (becoming 15 years) enters the model each year, and are distributed across the various DMFT groups according to their oral health status. The aging process ensures that at the end of each year, the surviving population in each age cohort transitions to the subsequent cohort except for the final age cohort (age 100 and older). The model allows the target population to transition between each state or to flow out as they die.

Transitions from untreated to treated states are influenced by the change in uptake rate of treatment, which is derived from the utilization sector. Transitions from treated to untreated states are influenced by regular dental visit fraction which was calculated from the number of the population who visited dentists in the past year prior to the national oral health survey. The dental caries prevalence from Thai national oral health survey in 2000-2001, 2006-2007 and 2012 were used in the model as the main data sources.



Figure 12 Stock and flow diagram: Oral health service utilization sub-model

The oral health service utilization sub-model (Figure 12) models how the use of dental services (number of individuals receiving treatment) changes over time. Three main factors were identified as key components that change the use of dental services in Thailand. These factors are 1) access to dental services, 2) perceived need for dental care and 3) affordability for dental care. An increase in rate of dental treatment was assumed to increase the transition between untreated dental caries to the treated state in the dental caries sector.

Population per dental personnel (dentists and dental nurses) ratio was used as a proxy of access to dental services. The supply of dental personnel is affected by the training pipeline of dental personnel and increases as a result of hiring graduates from dental personnel in school, and decreases due to attrition of dental personnel. Dental personnel in dental school increases with increasing intake of dental personnel and decreases with dropouts. Data on dental personnel was obtained from Thai Bureau of Dental Public Health, Ministry of Public Health year 2000-2015.⁽¹¹²⁾ It was assumed that an increased access to dental care would increase the treatment uptake rate.

Perceived need for dental care is assumed to be affected by both the level of oral health awareness, dental caries untreated status from the dental caries model sector, and population affluence, represented by the proportion of the population above or below the poverty line (expenditure) from Thai National Statistical Office, Ministry of Information and Communication Technology. As the level of oral health awareness increases, the perceived need for dental care increases. Also, as the proportion of the population who have untreated dental caries increases, the perceived need for dental care is assumed to increase with the effect depending on the group of dental caries experiences (very low, low, moderate, high).

In this model, affordability of dental services is assumed to vary across socio-economic (SES) group. The model accounts for two SES groups (poverty and non-poverty, defined by the poverty line). A proportion of the poverty individuals are assumed to experience affordability issues with the out of pocket costs of dental care, whereas non-poverty individuals are assumed to have no problem.

The contribution of access to dental services, perceived need for dental care and affordability of dental services to uptake rate of dental care, modified by their elasticity (relative contribution to uptake rate of dental treatment) is multiplied by the initial uptake rate to derive the indicated uptake rate. Uptake rate of dental treatment is modeled as a stock which changes by net change in uptake. Net change in uptake is modeled as the difference between indicated uptake rate and uptake rate, adjusted by the time it takes to change uptake rate.



4.2.4 Sugar consumption sub-model

Figure 13 Stock and flow diagram: Sugar consumption sub-model

The sugar consumption sub-model (Figure 13) models the effect of sugar consumption, oral health awareness and oral self-care practice of the population on oral health outcomes. On sugar consumption, for simplicity, sugar consumed was divided into two types: sugar consumed from sugar sweetened beverages (SSB), and other sugar. Other sugar comprises of sugar consumed from desserts and other food items. Quantity of SSB consumption is modeled as a stock and divided into 2 sub-groups by the population SES. In addition, based on evidence from other studies, SSB tax is postulated to have less impact on non-poverty group compared to the poverty group.

To estimate the quantity of sugar intake from SSB, the quantity of SSB consumed was multiplied by the average sugar content per SSB. To estimate the change in sugar consumption, current sugar consumption was compared to initial sugar consumption to derive relative sugar consumption.

Awareness of oral health is modeled here in as a stock. To simplify the model structure for oral health awareness, a maximum level of awareness was set as a level that is likely to be achieved in a population and it is compared with current awareness to determine an awareness gap. Any gap in oral health awareness is assumed to be closed by a health promotion campaign. Also, the model accounts for loss in oral health awareness over time—represented by loss rate of awareness.

Self-care practice of oral health is modeled as a stock which changes over time. Net change in self-care practice is determined by the gap between current self-care practice and the maximum possible proportion of the population likely to take-up self-care practice and health promotion campaign. As health promotion campaign increases, self-care practice is assumed to increase if there is a gap between maximum self-care practice and current self-care practice.

4.2.5 Model assumptions

- The population used in this study includes only Thai nationality who have been registered in household registration from Thailand Official Statistics Registration Systems, Department of Provincial Administration, The Ministry of Interior.
- The secondary data used in the modeling of dynamic systems are representative of the population of Thailand.
- Each population subgroup is homogeneous, assuming there were no differences within the groups.
- Fertility rate is assumed to remain constant from 2010 throughout the projection timeframe (2000-2040).
- Mortality rates for a single age are assumed to be the same within the age group and the rate remains constant from 2000 to 2040.
- The proportion of population in each DMFT group and regular visit

fraction are assumed to be the same for a single age for each age group.

The proportions in the missing age groups are assumed to be the same as

the proportion in the prior ages.

CHAPTER V

RESULTS

This chapter presents the results of the simulation model for base-case analysis with the reference data validation, policy scenario analysis, and sensitivity analysis.

5.1 Base-case analysis

5.1.1 Population sub-model

The projected total Thai population and population by age group with the reference Thai population data are presented in Figure 14. The projected population compared to the data is shown in Appendix C which show that the simulated population can replicate the historical reference data. From this simulation result, Thai population is projected to increase from 2000 until 2024 and will gradually decrease from 2024 to 2040. The trend of population decline is in infant, children and youth, while the elderly population is increasing. The adult population shows similar trend of changes with the total population.





5.1.2 Dental caries sub-model

The dental caries status in Thai population aged 15 and older is represented by the proportion in each DMFT severity and the proportion of untreated dental caries. Figure 15 illustrated the projected proportions of population in very low, low, moderate, and high DMFT group compared with the reference data from the Thai national oral health survey in 2000-2001, 2006-2007 and 2012. Figure 16 illustrated the projected proportions of untreated dental caries in each DMFT categories. The projected numbers of all proportions in Figure 15, 16 comparing with the reference data are shown in Appendix C.



Figure 15 Projected proportion of population in each DMFT severity group with the reference data



Figure 16 Projected proportion of population with untreated dental caries in each DMFT severity group with the reference data

In 2000, 44.7% of Thai population aged 15 and older had very low DMFT and the trend shows a decrease over the simulation timeframe to 25.5% in year 2040. On the other hand, the moderate and high DMFT groups (17% and 21.2% respectively in the year 2000) increase to 18.1% and 36.6% respectively by the year 2040. For the low DMFT group, the projected proportion estimated a slight increase and gradually decrease over time. The proportions of population with untreated dental caries remain very high (value close to 1) but the trend has slightly decreased for all groups, except the very low group.

5.1.3 Oral health service utilization sub-model

The projected numbers of dental personnel are illustrated in Figure 17. The trend for both numbers of dentists and dental nurses are increasing over the projected time. The projected number comparing the dental personnel and uptake rate of treatment data is shown in Appendix C. While the quantity of dental personnel is increasing, the simulated uptake rate of treatment shows the decline (Figure 18).



Figure 17 Projected number of dental personnel with the reference data



Figure 18 Projected uptake rate of dental treatment in population with the reference data

5.1.4 Sugar consumption sub-model

The average total sugar consumption among Thai population aged 15 and older is projected to increase steadily from 27.8 kg/person in 2000 to 64.1 kg/person in 2040. At the same time, SSB consumption and amount of sugar consumption from SSB have also been increasing for both poverty and non-poverty population (Figure 19, 20). The quantity of SSB sugar consumption is approximately 3 times higher for non-poverty group comparing with poverty group during the projected timeframe. From 2000 to 2040, the SSB consumption for poverty and non-poverty population have increased from 15.1 to 51.22 liter/person and 44.1 to 155.2 liter/person respectively (Appendix C).



Figure 19 Projected SSB consumption in poverty and non-poverty population with the reference data

89



Figure 20 Projected total sugar consumption and SSB sugar consumption for poverty and non-poverty population with the reference data

5.2 Policy scenario analysis

The main outcomes for policy analysis are 1) total population in each DMFT group, 2) total population with untreated dental caries in each DMFT group, 3) SSB consumption level for non-poverty, poverty group and total population, and 4) Sugar consumption level for non-poverty, poverty group and total population.

Summary of policy scenarios (as described in Chapter 3)

Base-case	Reference point, no parameter changes
Policy 1	Introducing SSB specific tax from 2018
Policy 2	Implementation of supplement health promotion program
	from 2018 to 2020
Policy 3	Dental students increase by 25% from 2018 to 2040,
	Gradually increase proportion of the poverty population who
	have financial accessibility to dental treatment by 50% from
	2018 to 2040
Policy 4	Combined policy 1, policy 2 and policy 3

5.2.1 Total population in each DMFT

Table 7 presents the projected Thai population aged 15 and older according to DMFT severity under each policy scenarios from 2000 to 2040. Under the base-case scenario in 2000, of the 45.2 million Thai population aged 15 years and older, 20.2 million were categorized as very low DMFT and it was projected to decrease to 13.3 million by 2040. For the same projected timeframe, individuals with low, moderate and high DMFT are projected to increase (Figure 21). Under the first policy — with the introduction of actual SSB tax policy in 2018 and the hypothesized reduction of sugar content in SSB products, total numbers of individuals with very low DMFT are projected to increase from the base-case scenario by 0.02% in 2020 and 2.3% in 2040. Comparing to the basecase scenario, the projected numbers of population with low DMFT remain almost the same in 2020 and increase by 0.9% in 2040. The number of moderate DMFT population are projected to remain almost the same compared to the base-case scenario in 2020 and projected to decrease by 0.06% in 2040. The numbers of high DMFT population are projected to decrease by 0.02% in 2020 and 1.9% in 2040.

Under the second policy—with the implementation of supplementary health promotion program, total numbers of individuals with very low DMFT are projected to increase by 0.01% in 2020 and 1.5% in 2040 compared to the basecase. While the numbers of low, moderate and high DMFT population are expected to remain almost the same compared to the base-case scenario in 2020, the numbers of these three group are projected to decrease by 0.5%, 0.2% and 0.6% respectively in 2040 (Figure 22).

Under **the third policy**— with the increase in dental personnel and financial accessibility of poverty population, the numbers of population in all groups of DMFT are projected to be almost the same as the base-case scenario in 2020. For the projected time in 2040, the very low DMFT group is expected to increase by 0.06%; while the low, moderate and high DMFT group is expected to slightly decrease by 0.03%, 0.02% and 0.02% respectively.

Under the **last scenario**—with the combination of the policy 1, 2 and 3, the projection shows the biggest improvement in all DMFT group compared to the base-case scenario. The numbers of individuals with very low DMFT are projected to increase from the base-case scenario by 0.02% in 2020 and 3.8% in 2040. While the projected numbers of population with low DMFT remain almost the same in 2020 and increase by 0.3% in 2040, the numbers of moderate and high DMFT population are projected to decrease by 0.01% and 0.02% respectively in 2020 and decrease by 0.3% and 2.5% respectively in 2040.



Figure 21 Projected population (million) in each DMFT at Base-case (2000-2040)



Figure 22 Projected population (million) each DMFT for Base-case and policy scenario in 2040

						% change from
Time (Year)	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2000-2040
Very Low DMFT						
Base-case	20.19	19.41	17.61	15.50	13.24	-34.4
Policy 1	20.19	19.41	17.62	15.65	13.55	-32.9
Policy 2	20.19	19.41	17.62	15.59	13.44	-33.4
Policy 3	20.19	19.41	17.61	15.50	13.25	-34.4
Policy 4	20.19	19.41	17.62	15.74	13.74	-31.9
Low DMFT		///				
Base-case	7.67	10.03	10.99	10.75	9.77	27.3
Policy 1	7.67	10.03	10.99	10.76	9.85	28.4
Policy 2	7.67	10.03	10.98	10.70	9.72	26.7
Policy 3	7.67	10.03	10.99	10.74	9.77	27.3
Policy 4	7.67	10.03	10.98	10.72	9.80	27.7
Moderate DMFT	0	-21220	Children .			
Base-case	7.67	8.38	9.54	10.10	9.85	28.5
Policy 1	7.67	8.38	9.54	10.09	9.85	28.4
Policy 2	จุฬ 7.671	8.38	9.54	10.09	9.83	28.2
Policy 3	7.67	8.38	9.54	10.10	9.85	28.5
Policy 4	7.67	8.38	9.54	10.08	9.82	28.1
High DMFT						
Base-case	9.62	12.58	15.23	17.75	19.73	94.2
Policy 1	9.62	12.58	15.23	17.60	19.35	90.4
Policy 2	9.62	12.58	15.23	17.71	19.61	75.2
Policy 3	9.62	12.58	15.23	17.75	19.73	94.0
Policy 4	9.62	12.58	15.22	17.57	19.23	71.7

Table 7 Projected population (million) by DMFT severity

5.2.2 Population with untreated dental caries in each DMFT

Under the base-case scenario, the population aged 15 and older with at least one untreated dental caries (representing the unmet dental care needs) in very low, low, moderate and high DMFT group are 12.2 million, 7.1 million, 7.3 million and 9.1 million respectively in 2000. In very low DMFT group, the individuals with untreated dental caries are projected to decrease to 8.04 million in 2040; while those in low, moderate and high DMFT group are projected to increase to 8.7 million, 8.9 million and 17.7 million respectively in 2040 (Figure 23). The largest percentage increase is observed in the high DMFT untreated group (94.2%) (Table 8).

Under the first policy, comparing with the base-case scenario, the population with untreated conditions in very low DMFT group is projected to increase by 0.02% in 2020 and 2.5% in 2040. The numbers of untreated population in low DMFT and moderate DMFT group are projected to be close to the base-case scenario in 2020. Compared to base-case scenario in 2040, the projections continue to increase to 0.9% for low DMFT group, but decrease to 0.1% for moderate DMFT group. For the untreated population in high DMFT group is projected to decrease by 0.02% in 2020 and continue to decrease by 2% compared with the base-case scenario in 2040 (Figure 24).

Under **the second policy**, the individuals with untreated dental caries in all DMFT groups are projected to decrease compared to base-case scenario for the projected timeframe. The highest percentage of untreated dental caries decrease from the base-case scenario is among the high DMFT group (9.8%), following by the other three groups (0.6%) in 2040 (Figure 24).

Under **the third policy**, the numbers of individual with untreated dental caries in all DMFT group are projected to be close to the base-case scenario in 2020. Then the projections show the decrease from the base-case scenario by approximately for 0.1% for all DMFT groups in 2040.

Under the last scenario, the combination of all policies, numbers of individuals with untreated dental caries in very low and low DMFT groups are projected to increase by 1.6% and 0.2% respectively compared to the base-case scenario in 2040. On the other hand, the numbers of individuals with untreated dental caries in moderate and high DMFT groups are projected to decrease by 0.7% and 11.6% respectively compared to the base-case scenario in 2040.



Figure 23 Projected untreated dental caries population (million) by DMFT for Basecase scenario from year 2000-2040



Figure 24 Projected population (million) with untreated dental caries in each DMFT for Base-case and policy scenario in year 2040

						%change from
Time (Year)	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2000-2040
Very Low DMFT						
Base-case	12.22	12.17	10.93	9.52	8.04	-34.2
Policy 1	12.22	12.17	10.93	9.62	8.24	-32.61
Policy 2	12.22	12.17	10.92	9.41	7.99	-34.6
Policy 3	12.22	12.17	10.93	9.51	8.03	-34.3
Policy 4	12.22	12.17	10.92	9.49	8.17	-33.1
Low DMFT		shind if a	4 -			
Base-case	7.13	9.11	9.90	9.63	8.73	22.3
Policy 1	7.13	9.11	9.90	9.65	8.80	23.4
Policy 2	7.13	9.11	9.90	9.59	8.68	21.6
Policy 3	7.13	9.11	9.90	9.63	8.72	22.2
Policy 4	7.13	9.11	9.90	9.60	8.74	22.5
Moderate DMFT		Anara				
Base-case	7.32	7.74	8.72	9.17	8.90	21.5
Policy 1	7.32	7.74	8.72	9.16	8.89	21.4
Policy 2	7.32	7.74	8.72	9.14	8.85	20.8
Policy 3	7.32	7.74	8.72	9.17	8.89	21.4
Policy 4	7.32	7.74	8.72	9.12	8.84	20.6
High DMFT	กาลงถ	รถเ๊บห	าวิทยา	ລັຍ		
Base-case	9.10	11.37	13.70	15.93	17.67	94.2
Policy 1 GHU	9.10	11.37	13.70	15.79	17.32	90.4
Policy 2	9.10	11.37	13.64	14.70	15.94	75.2
Policy 3	9.10	11.37	13.64	15.92	17.65	94.0
Policy 4	9.10	11.37	13.64	14.57	15.61	71.7

Table 8 Projected untreated dental caries population (million) by DMFT

5.2.3 Sugar-sweetened beverage consumption

In 2000, Thai population aged 15 and older consumed 31.8 liters/person of sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB). Among these population, people living in poverty and non-poverty consumed 15.1 liters/person and 44.1 liters/person of SSB respectively (Table 8). Under the base-case scenario, the projected SSB consumption for total population, among poverty and non-poverty population increase to 150 liters/person, 155.2 liters/person and 51.2 liters/person respectively in 2040 (Table 9).

Under the first policy, the SSB consumption level is projected to be close to the base-case scenario in the short-term projection in 2020. For the long-term period in 2040, the projected SSB consumption decrease by 5% for poverty population, 1.4% for non-poverty population and 1.4% for total population compared to base-case scenario.

Under **the second policy**, the SSB consumption level for both SES group and total population are projected to decrease at the same rate by 0.1% in 2020 and 5% in 2040 compared to base-case scenario.

Under **the third policy**—with the increase of dental personnel and financial accessibility for dental treatment. The projections of SSB consumption for both SES groups and total population do not show any differences from the base-case scenario for all the projection timeframe (Table 9). Under the combined policy scenario, the SSB consumption among non-poverty and total population are projected to decrease by 0.1% in 2020 and 6% in 2040 compared to base-case scenario; while the SSB consumption of poverty population are projected to decrease by 0.1% in 2020 and 9% in 2040 compared to base-case scenario (Table 9).

Table 9 Projected SSB consumption (liter/person) for poverty, non-poverty and total population for policy analysis

				6		%change from
Time (Year)	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2000-2040
Poverty population		T	11111			
Base-case	15.09	20.66	28.30	38.41	51.22	239.4
Policy 1	15.09	20.66	28.30	37.67	48.66	222.5
Policy 2	15.09	20.66	28.27	37.59	48.87	223.8
Policy 3	15.09	20.66	28.30	38.41	51.22	239.4
Policy 4	15.09	20.66	28.27	36.92	46.63	209.0
Non-poverty population						
Base-case	44.11	60.55	83.13	113.84	155.17	251.7
Policy 1	44.11	60.55	83.13	113.25	153.06	247.0
Policy 2	44.11	60.55	83.03	111.34	147.67	234.8
Policy 3	44.11	60.55	83.13	113.84	155.17	251.8
Policy 4	44.11	60.55	83.03	110.81	145.83	230.6
Total population						
Base-case	31.83	54.02	79.40	109.36	149.89	371.0
Policy 1	31.83	54.02	79.40	108.76	147.78	364.4
Policy 2	31.83	54.02	79.31	106.96	142.65	348.2
Policy 3	31.83	54.02	79.40	109.36	149.89	371.0
Policy 4	31.83	54.02	79.31	106.42	140.81	342.4

5.2.4 Sugar consumption

In 2000, the population aged 15 and older who living in poverty and non-poverty consumed 20.5 kg/person and 34.4 kg/person of sugar respectively, while the average total sugar consumed was 28.5 kg/person. Under the base-case scenario, the projected sugar consumption increases to 35.4 kg/person for poverty population, 65.9 kg/person for non-poverty population and 64.1 kg/person for total population by 2040 (Table 10). For the policy analysis, policy 2 and 4 show the improvement in sugar consumption during the projection time (Figure 25).

Under the first policy, sugar consumption is projected to decrease by 3.2% for poverty population and 5.4% for non-poverty population in 2020, compared to the base-case scenario. The sugar consumption for total population is also projected to decrease by 5.4% in 2020. For the long-term projection, sugar consumption is projected to decrease by 5.2% for poverty population, 7.5% for non-poverty population and 7.4% for total population, compared to the base-case scenario in 2040.

Under **the second policy**, sugar consumption is projected to decrease only 0.2% for poverty population, 0.03% for non-poverty population and 0.03% for total population in 2020, compared to the base-case scenario. For the longterm projection, sugar consumption is projected to decrease by 1% for poverty population, 1.7% for non-poverty population and 1.7% for total population, compared to the base-case scenario in 2040.

Under **the third policy** scenario, the projections of sugar consumption for both SES groups and total population do not show the differences from the base-case scenario for all the projection timeframe (Table 10).

Under the combined policy, the sugar consumption level among poverty, non-poverty and total population are projected to decrease by 3.2%, 5.5% and 5.4% in 2020 compared to base-case scenario. For the long-term projection, sugar consumption is projected to decrease by 5.9% for poverty population, 8.8% for non-poverty population and 8.7% for total population, compared to the base-case scenario in 2040 (Table 10).

Table 10 Projected sugar consumption (kg/person) of poverty, non-poverty and total population for policy analysis

						%change from
Time (Year)	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2000-2040
Poverty population		540 A .				
Base-case	20.48	22.90	26.69	30.62	35.42	72.90
Policy 1	20.48	22.90	25.84	29.38	33.57	63.90
Policy 2	20.48	22.90	26.68	30.50	35.06	71.19
Policy 3	20.48	22.90	26.69	30.62	35.42	72.90
Policy 4	20.48	22.90	25.83	29.29	33.33	62.71
Non-poverty population		AOA				
Base-case	34.38	37.57	45.83	54.66	65.89	91.65
Policy 1	34.38	37.57	43.34	51.18	60.98	77.38
Policy 2	34.38	37.57	45.82	54.29	64.76	88.38
Policy 3	34.38	37.57	45.83	54.66	65.89	91.65
Policy 4	34.38	37.57	43.33	50.89	60.11	74.85
Total population						
Base-case ବ୍ୟ	28.50	35.17	44.50	53.12	64.12	125.02
Policy 1	28.50	35.17	42.12	49.77	59.37	108.35
Policy 2	28.50	35.17	44.47	52.86	63.47	122.74
Policy 3	28.50	35.17	44.44	52.61	62.84	120.54
Policy 4	28.50	35.17	44.48	52.76	63.03	121.21





Scenario	Effect on main outcomes compared with base-case
	scenario in year 2040
Policy 1	- Improve dental caries status by increasing (0.9-2.5%)
(SSB tax)	very low and low DMFT group for both total population
	and untreated population; and decreasing (0.1-2%) the
	moderate and high DMFT group for total population and
	untreated group
	- Decrease the SSB consumption for poverty population
	by 5% and non-poverty population by 1.4%
	- Decrease total sugar consumption for poverty
	population by 5.2% and non-poverty population by
	7.5%
Policy 2	- Improve dental caries status by decreasing numbers of
(Health	untreated population by 0.6%, in all DMFT group and as
promotion	high as 9 % in high DMFT population; along with
program)	increasing total very low DMFT population by 1.5%
	- Decrease level of SSB by 0.1% and sugar consumption
	by 1-1.7% in all SES group
Policy 3	- Improve dental caries status by decreasing numbers of
(Dental	untreated population by 0.1%, in all DMFT group; along
personnel and	with increasing total very low DMFT population by 0.1%
financial	- No effect on SSB and sugar consumption
accessibility)	
Policy 4	- Show the highest improvement on dental caries status
(Combined	and sugar consumption with the additional effect of all
policy)	policies combined.

Table 11 Summary for policy analysis results
--

5.3 Sensitivity analysis

The parameters used in the sensitivity analysis are shown in Table 5 (Chapter 3). The outcomes of multivariate sensitivity analysis (with random uniform distribution assumed) in base-case scenario and all policies in year 2040 are presented in Table 12. The mean values with 95 percent confidence interval for each outcome confirm the robustness of the model. With the credible interval of both projected population in each DMFT group and sugar consumption for all SES

group.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY
	Sensi	tivity analys	is results for	r each scena	ario
Outcome variables	Base-case	Policy1	Policy 2	Policy 3	Policy 4
Total population Very	Low DMFT (p	erson)			
mean	13393026	13835473	13649929	13401195	14086915
Lower bound (95% CI)	13221731	13666320	13478117	13229917	13917394
Upper bound (95% CI)	13564320	14004625	13821741	13572472	14256435
Total population Low	DMFT (persor	ı)			
mean	9811998	9928948	9781763	9809249	9889152
Lower bound (95% CI)	9682999	9800721	9653525	9680284	9761726
Upper bound (95% CI)	9940997	10057175	9910000	9938214	10016578
Total population Mode	erate DMFT (p	person)			
mean	9893652	9879561	9871351	9891902	9854438
Lower bound (95% CI)	9780380	9768276	9758889	9778660	9743947
Upper bound (95% CI)	10006924	9990845	9983813	10005144	9964929
Total population High	DMFT (perso	n)			
mean	19497989	18952612	19293578	19494320	18766047
Lower bound (95% CI)	19295361	18756495	19092254	19291747	18571206
Upper bound (95% CI)	19700617	19148729	19494901	19696892	18960888
Sugar consumption for	r poverty pop	ulation (kg/	person)		
mean	35.42	32.94	RS 35.07	35.42	32.72
Lower bound (95% CI)	35.41	32.82	35.06	35.41	32.61
Upper bound (95% CI)	35.43	33.06	35.07	35.43	32.83
Sugar consumption for	r non-poverty	population	(kg/person))	
mean	65.88	58.87	64.76	65.88	58.10
Lower bound (95% CI)	65.88	58.49	64.76	65.88	57.74
Upper bound (95% CI)	65.89	59.25	64.76	65.89	58.46
Sugar consumption for	^r total popula	ntion (kg/per	rson)		
mean	64.12	57.34	63.03	64.12	56.60
Lower bound (95% CI)	64.11	56.98	63.03	64.11	56.25
Upper bound (95% CI)	64.12	57.71	63.04	64.12	56.94

Table 1	2	Sensitivity	analysis	outcomes	in	year	2040
						/	

CHAPTER VI DISCUSSION

The objective of this study was to explore the relationship of sugar consumption, dental service utilization and oral health status of Thai adults and elderly. It also aimed to estimate the prevalence of dental caries among the population when the sugar-sweetened beverage tax policy is implemented using system dynamics approach. The study was divided into two part: qualitative approach and quantitative approach. The result from the qualitative part presented by the causal loop diagram and the quantitative part presented by the simulation outcomes of system dynamics model.

6.1 Causal loop diagram represented the complex relationship of SSB tax, dental caries experience, dental service utilization and sugar consumption.

The causal loop diagram developed for this study identified seven balancing feedback loops which operated to reduce the prevalence of dental caries in population through oral hygiene, behavioral modification, oral health literacy and dental treatment. The balancing loops also operated to reduce the impact of SSB tax on the consumer's consumption through industry side's strategies. Moreover, the reinforcing loop operates to maintain the share of SSB consumption among the Thai population. The results show that implementing the SSB tax cannot directly translate to sugar consumption changes and oral health status in the population. Developing the causal loop diagram via the group model building approach in this study provide the specific context of the system responding to the specific problem of SSB tax and dental caries outcome. Moreover, the results depend on the group of stakeholders who participated in this study. Therefore, the CLD developed herein is unique in nature and to the best of my knowledge, there is no recent study that present the relationship of the oral health issues and SSB tax with the system thinking approach. However, the factors considered in this CLD are partly similar to Kum and colleagues. They used GMB to explore the oral health equity among elderly living in New York.⁽¹¹³⁾ The study focused more on oral health care utilization and its related factors including accessibility, affordability, social engagement, oral health promotion, oral health literacy, financial policy and treatment cost.

The qualitative process suggested an agreement among all key informants that sugar consumption in Thailand has increased and excess sugar consumption will have adverse health impact leading to increased obesity, diabetes and dental caries. However, there were diverse opinions on the decision to implement SSB tax, which aims to reduce sugar consumption. The SSB industry and consumer representatives preferred to be more involved in designing and implementing the policy. This implies that the desirable policy should involve the participation of key stakeholders who would affect or be affected by the policy.

The insight from CLD suggests that SSB tax may likely lead to a worse substitution effect when consumers switch to other beverages or product such as nontax high sugar content product. This sugar consumption would not decrease because of the rise in other high sugar content products. However, the stakeholders suggested that the SSB tax has a potential to reduce sugar consumption in Thailand which is consistent with the evidence from the survey study in Thai adults.⁽¹¹⁴⁾ The study showed that an increase in price of SSB by 20-25 percent can reduce consumption. The price increase may have limited impact given the rising income of the Thai population, and if SSB industries decide to absorb the price increase without passing it on to the consumers.

The stakeholders suggested that SSB tax alone will not be able to achieve the desired impact of reducing sugar consumption among the Thai population. It should be combined with non-tariff measures such as oral health education on the harmful effects of excessive sugar consumption, as well as increasing oral health capacity to provide needed oral health services, while improving affordability of oral health care to increase dental care utilization.

In addition, the insight of group modeling building pointed that an SSB tax has the potential to generate revenue to fund the implementation of public health. If that is the case, the tax will also give the feedback relationship to modify unhealthy behaviors, finance the development of oral health capacity or subsidies for dental care for vulnerable populations. Therefore, this would contribute to the population health. This dynamic hypothesis can be used as a tool to inform policy planners the types of policies that will be proved to be most useful in improving oral health within the country. It is also translated into quantitative model that allows for the evaluation of the impact of SSB tax quantitatively.

6.2 Population in DMFT severity, treatment status and sugar consumption

Dental caries experiences within the Thai population aged 15 and older is expected to change over the projection timeframe from year 2000 to 2040, with the number of individuals in very low DMFT decreasing; while low, moderate and high DMFT category increasing over the years. The projected result may be due to the nature of the DMFT index which accumulate representing the dental caries experiences among the population. Moreover, the projected children population is decreasing overtime, while the elderly group is increasing. This has led to the number of individuals in the moderate and high DMFT is increasing overtime.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

The sugar consumption in Thai population is projected to increase during the projection timeframe from 2000 to 2040. The total sugar consumption will increase from 28.5 kg per capita in 2000 to 64.1 kg per capita in 2040. To confirm the validity of the sugar consumption projection, the model results were validated with the sugar consumption historical data from 2000 to 2015 (see also chapter V). Moreover, the projection from this study in 2026 (49.4 kg per capita) is close to the latest FAO's projected sugar consumption of Thailand in 2026 (50.1 kg per capita) ⁽¹¹⁵⁾. Even though, the sugar consumption projection in 2040 is as high as 64.1 kg per capita, it is still within

a feasible range of sugar consumption considering the projections in other countries e.g. FAO's projected sugar consumption of Malaysia in 2026 (at 65.5 kg per capita) ⁽¹¹⁵⁾.

To address the second objective of this study, with the implementation of Thai current SSB tax policy, the reduction of SSB consumption will only happen in long-term period (5% in poverty group and 1.4% in non-poverty group in 2040). This result may be due to low SSB tax rates in the early years and the higher rates in the later years. This result is also consistent with other economic studies^(16, 116) that show higher reduction on sugar consumption level with higher tax rate.

According to economic theory, price elasticity determines the level of changes in demand when the price changes. Colchero and colleague's study in Mexico found that the price elasticity for SSB is-1. 16 which means, a 10% price increase was associated with a decrease in quantity consumed of SSB by 11.6%.⁽¹⁶⁾ Prasertsom and colleague's study among Thai adults suggested the 25% SSB price increase will lead to the decision of 8.6% quit SSB drinking and additionally every 25 percent of SSB price rise will result in 50 percent increase in the percentage people reported stop SSB drinking.⁽⁹⁰⁾ Price elasticity of Thai population which is used in this study as suggested by Bhadrakom were -1.46 for low income household and -0.39 for high income households.⁽⁹¹⁾ This different level of elasticity means stronger effect of price increase on the demand of low income household compared to high income households. Total sugar consumption in population after the SSB tax implementation is projected to decrease from the base-case scenario for both short-term in 2020 (5.4%) and long-term in 2040 (7.4%). The SSB consumption for poverty population is projected to decrease from the base-case scenario higher than for non-poverty group. However, the percent reduction in total sugar consumption from the base-case scenario was found to be higher in non-poverty population than in poverty population. Total reduction of sugar consumption in this study is caused by the effect of SSB tax policy and the reduction trend of other sugar consumption (beside from SSB consumption). This study used historical data of other sugar consumption from 2000 to 2015 to estimate the consumption in later years until 2040 using 4 year moving average of percentage change. The higher reduction in non-poverty group is due to the higher decrease in other sugar consumption trend compared with the-poverty population.

จุหาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

In term of dental caries status, both number of populations in each DMFT group and the number of untreated individuals showed the improvement after the implementation of SSB tax compared to base-case scenario. In 2040, the very low and low DMFT population is projected to increase by 2.3% and 0.9% respectively; while the moderate and high DMFT population are projected to decrease by 0.1% and 2% respectively compared to the base-case scenario (before SSB tax). These results are due to the decrease of the total sugar consumption of population from both reduction of quantities of SSB consumed and the sugar content reduction in SSB product by the industry responding to the SSB tax policy. This result is consistent to Schwendicke and colleagues' model-based study⁽¹¹⁷⁾ which showed that 20% SSB taxation could reduce caries increment and dental treatment cost.

With the supplementary health promotion interventions, the situation in term dental caries status and sugar consumption will both improve. The highest impact is the decrease of untreated high DMFT group by almost 8% in 2040 compared to the base-case scenario. This result supports the relationship of factors presented in the conceptual framework. The model hypothesized that the health promotion program will increase oral health awareness and self-care adherence; then it will consequently reduce SSB consumption and will slow down the transition from low dental caries risk to high dental caries risk in the population. Several studies and reviews also reported positive impact of oral health education and promotion program on oral health behavior, such as tooth brushing/flossing and dental visits as well as the attitudes toward oral health.⁽¹¹⁸⁻¹²⁰⁾ Boles and colleagues⁽¹²¹⁾ also found that health promotion campaign in mass media could influence attitudes and behavior about sugary drinks.

As the dynamic hypothesis suggests that the capacity of dental personnel and financial accessibility to dental treatment will lead to an increase in population receiving dental treatment. The third policy scenario of increasing 30% of dental students and 50% of poverty population who have financial access to dental treatment from 2018 to 2040 will result in lowering population with untreated dental caries as shown in bigger very low and low DMFT groups and smaller moderate, high DMFT groups as well as the untreated population. However, the percentage changes from the base-case were minimal ranging from 0.02 – 0.14 percent. This result may be due to the use of only dental personnel per population ratio as a proxy of capacity for dental health service and leaving other proxies which is not included in our model boundary such as distribution of dental personnel. In addition, the increase in affordability for treatment cost showed small impact on the treatment rate in Thai population because the essential dental treatment for low-income group in Thailand have been subsidized by the universal health insurance. Moreover, it is not surprising that this scenario produces no change of sugar consumption projection.

Further, the results suggest that the combination of SSB tax with other nontariff policies which are health promotion program, increase affordability and capacity of dental health service will provide the most benefits to improve dental caries experiences. This study's result showed the additive effect of all policies combined. However, synergistic effects from the implementation of the combined policies were not observed, which may be attributed to a multitude of factors. One potential explanation is that individuals who utilize dental services for curative treatment are more likely be the ones already engaging in positive health behaviors, and thus are more inclined to engage in preventive dental care.

6.3 Strength and limitation of the study

The inherent strength of the model proposed in this study is its comprehensive model boundary with the consideration of behavior related to dental caries progression, and its flexibility and value in comparing alternative policies within the complex oral health system. It also captures the dynamic of population and oral health determinant over time which can facilitate the holistic understanding of the problem. Moreover, the use of participatory group model building approach allowed to engage stakeholders to map the complex system interrelationships of SSB tax, sugar consumption and dental caries taking into consideration different points of views of other stakeholders. The model may be used as an additional tool to inform policy planners the design of effective policies and intervention for improving oral health in Thailand.

This study may pose a limitation of the acquisition of secondary data used in the model analysis and may not be able to use a single database for analysis. The use of proxies and estimated values in the simulation implies a certain degree of limitation to the credibility of the results. The comparison to other database both within the country or international data may be used. These can cause errors in estimation of the outcomes. However, the researcher tried to use national database that can represent the population and the reasonable proxy variables in order to reduce the potential errors. Another limitation in this study is related to the prediction of consumer behavior after the introduction of SSB tax. It is possible that the consumers may substitute SSB with other beverages with no tax that may contain equal or higher level of sugar content. There are other studies that show that consumers switch from SSB to other beverages like fruit juice, milk and alcohol drinks.⁽⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹⁾ When the substitute drinks which contain high sugar content were increasingly consumed, the net sugar consumption would not reduce as the SSB taxing propose. This substitution effect was not included in the quantitative simulation model due to the lacking of data support. However, the other sugar consumption trend was estimated by using 4-year moving average of percentage change of the historical data of other sugar consumption.

Moreover, this study also required interdisciplinary knowledge to generate the meaningful dynamic hypothesis and quantitative predictions of the model subsystems. Although this study used the GMB for this concern, there was still a lack of direct involvement of consumers and the SSB industry in the GMB process. However, we engaged Thai Consumers Foundation and SSB industry association in the interview process to contribute their input for our study.

6.4 Recommendation

6.4.1 Policy recommendation

The findings in this study would suggest the implementing an SSB tax alone will not achieve the desired impact of improving dental caries, without combining it with non-tariff interventions such as health education and promotion program, availability of oral health capacity and affordability of oral health services. The combination of policies targeted to multiple determinants related to oral health, is vital in achieving the goal of improving oral health outcomes in Thailand. Moreover, as the current SSB tax rate alone will only has minimal impact on the reduction of SSB and sugar consumption. Besides the response of SSB industries by reformulation of their product to provide more alternative of low sugar SSB in the market.

For the most benefit to improve the population health, the government may earmark the SSB tax to use in health promotion program to target the awareness of sugar consumption, oral health care and other health issues. The effects of oral health promotion intervention tend to be observable only after a certain amount of time has passed. Thus, it is imperative that policymakers consider syncing both short-term and long-term strategies to achieve the maximum level of results desired. This may include the development of the distribution of dental personnel, while conducting oral health promotion program and preventive/curative intervention targeting the moderate to high risk group.

6.4.2 Research recommendation

For further study, the use of survey data on sugar consumption after the SSB tax implementation will be helpful to effectively evaluate the impact of the policy in Thai population. More detailed analyses by population subgroups such as by residency and socio-economic status will help policy makers identify the differential impact on these populations. However, it may not be easy to identify existing secondary data that can support those analyses. Future studies may consider this limitation and include a plan to collect meaningful primary data to serve their objectives.

Although the effect of SSB tax on dental caries, the main interest of the study, is minimal, the study results show bigger improvement in regard to overall sugar consumption. This suggest that further study on other outcome parameters which are the direct impact from excessive sugar consumption such as obesity and diabetes should be considered. In addition, the system dynamics model used in this study can be adapted or applied to explore other outcomes of interest and to test other related policy scenarios such as the oral health problem in children or vulnerable population, tobacco policy and periodontal diseases.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX

Appendix A: Stakeholder analysis matrix for SSB tax policy

Stakeholder group	Potential interest on SSB tax	Level of impact	Influences
	Support (+) or Oppose (-)		on policy
Consumers and	Increase SSB prices (-)	High	Low
NGO advocated	Increase alternative beverages with		
for consumers'	low sugar content (+/-)		
rights	May reduce the amount of SSB		
	and/or sugar consumption (+/-)		
	Benefits for health and reduce risk		
	of disease causing by excessive		
	sugar consumption (+)		
SSB industry	Increase the SSB production cost (-)	High	High
	May reduce SSB sales quantity (-)		
	Possible to increase marketing		
	strategies for increase sales (+)		
	Opportunity to produce		
	alternative/substitute product (+/-)		
	Role for social responsibility (+)		
Sugar industry	May reduce the profit from sugar	Medium	Medium
	sales (-)		
Sugar cane farmer	May reduce the profit from sugar	Medium	Medium
	cane sales (-)		
Ministry of Finance	Increase revenue from Tax (+)	High	High
Сн	Opposition by SSB industry (-)	ТҮ	
	Population health expenditure may		
	decline (+)		
Ministry of Public	Increase revenue from Tax (+)	High	High
Health	Opposition by SSB industry (-)		
	Population health outcome will		
	improve and expenditure may		
	decline (+)		

Appendix B: Interview form and summary of the key informant interview result แนวข้อคำถามสำหรับการสัมภาษณ์ผู้มีส่วนได้ส่วนเสีย

เรื่อง ความคิดเห็นในเรื่องปัจจัยที่เกี่ยวข้อง แนวทางและผลที่อาจเกิดขึ้น หากมีการบังคับใช้มาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่ม ที่มีน้ำตาล

คำชี้แจง

เครื่องมือสำหรับการเก็บข้อมูลเชิงคุณภาพฉบับนี้ มีจุดมุ่งหมายเพื่อที่จะวิเคราะห์ข้อมูลเชิงลึกในมุมมองของผู้มีส่วน ได้ส่วนเสียในประเด็นมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาล เพื่อเป็นข้อมูลสำหรับการพัฒนาแบบจำลองพลวัตระบบ ต่อไป

แนวข้อคำถามเชิงลึก

ผู้ให้ข้อมูล.....

- ความคิดเห็นต่อสถานการณ์การบริโภคน้ำตาลในประชาชนไทย และปัญหาสุขภาพที่ เกี่ยวข้องกับการบริโภค
- ความคิดเห็นต่อนโยบายมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาล และ/หรือที่มา และความ เป็นไปได้
- ความคิดเห็นต่อรูปแบบ และความเป็นไปได้ของมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มน้ำตาลที่เหมาะกับ บริบทประเทศไทย
- ผลกระทบที่คาดว่าจะเกิดขึ้น ในกรณีมีการกำหนดมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาล การจัดการในภาคอุตสาหกรรม ในกรณีมีการบังคับใช้มาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มที่มีน้ำตาล ขึ้นมาตรการภาษีเครื่องดื่มน้ำตาล

SUMMARY OF KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEW RESULT

(1) Question: What is your opinion on sugar consumption situation in Thailand and health issues related to the sugar consumption?

All key informants agreed that the sugar consumption in Thailand has increased and excessive sugar intake can cause adverse effects on health such as diabetes and tooth decay. They were concerned about the source of sugar consumption data that represent the real consumption. Most data came from the companies that produce and supply and thus may not be an actual representation (overestimation). However, the advocators attempted to use multiple data sets to support the measures and they claimed that the data of sugar consumption from the national survey could demonstrate the consumption trend in the population.

(2) Question: What is your opinion on the drive to adopt SSB taxation policy? Who have the important role to this policy process?What are the reasons and the barriers of this policy driven?

The SSB Tax policy was initiated and advocated from the healthnetwork sector. Ministry of Public Health, the National Health Assembly, International Health Policy Program and Sweet Enough Network Thailand supported by Thai Health Promotion have cooperated to work with this policy issue. Besides the driving forces of the health outcomes expectation, the financial problem was the main driving forces. The government tried to add more budget to the national revenue system. The key informants were concerned about the lack of other sectors' involvement in the policy process. Especially from the industry side, they argued that the government did not allow them to offer feedback from the beginning of the policy driven process and there was no mutual recognition from different sectors. As a consumers' point of view, the policy process was seen as the debate and argument between the government and industry sector instead of cooperation and mutual agreement.

(3) Question: What is your opinion about the tax measure design, and feasibility of SSB tax measures that appropriate for the context of Thailand?

The Excise Department, of the Ministry of Finance informed that the SSB tax policy design was based on the review of evidence supported by different documents, and meetings of the Board with relevant departments. The initial scheme proposed to the Reform Council was based on the sugar content in beverage. The tax exemption of sugar content would be lower than 6 grams per 100 ml. With the sugar content of 6-10 grams per 100 ml and more than 10 grams per 100 ml, a tax of 20% and 25% of the retail price should be collected. The government agreed with the use of sugar content to calculate a progressive tax rate. However, the actual rate would depend on the Committed Board decision. Consistently with the (key informant) economist's opinion, the tax should be based on the volume and sugar content, not on sales value. There is also a suggestion of taxing other sugar containing drinks such as 3 in 1 coffee/tea mix and other powder drinks in order to prevent a consumers' substitution effect and fairness in industry side. The industry requested that the tax exemption threshold should not be set too low. Additionally, they also asked for a transition period to adjust their drink formula.

(4) Question: What is your opinion about the impact on sugar

consumption of Thai population and the expected change process and outcome if the SSB tax measures has been launched? Based on the literature review from national and international studies, the policy advocators were quite confident in a benefit of sugar consumption reduction. A previous study in Thai adults showed that at least 20-25% price increase would change consumption by Thai people. Also, the policy would promote the social norm of less sweet or sugar consumption concern among the population. The representative from health economic side added that consumption may show a minimal decrease because Thai people have the habit of consuming especially sweet-tooth norm. Moreover, price changes are not likely to significantly affect consumption of the people with a high income. The industry responded that the changes in beverage product prices and consumption depend on several factors such as tax rate and design, market share of beverage informal sector who do not pay excise tax and the adaptation to tax measures of business sector. Therefore, how much of the changes occurred would still be problematic.

(5) Question: Do you think there are other policies that are likely to affect the change in sugar consumption of the Thai population? And please explain the possibility of the policies.

All parties agreed on the adoption of non-tariff measures to address the problem of excessive sugar consumption by the Thai population. For example, education and information on the harmful effects of (excessive) sugar consumption is likely to raise health awareness and may reduce the consumption. Food labeling indicates healthy versus unhealthy food and makes it easier for consumers to understand, such as traffic lights for sugar content (red for unhealthy and green for healthy). Communication technology such as smartphone applications would help consumers to identify healthy food and snack. The manufacturers should also adjust their beverage formula to reduce sugar content or provide alternative products with low sugar content. All strategies require intensive collaboration of both public and private sectors. In addition, there was also a need for systematic evaluation of all measures to assess their effectiveness. The government sector concluded that the tax and non-tax policy should be implemented simultaneously. While the industry sector suggested that the non-tax policy should be implement first and

evaluated the outcome. Then, the consideration of tax measure could be followed.



sis
ialy
e ar
Case
base-
for
data
ence
efere
and r
ult a
res
etail
С С
dix
pen
¥

Table 13 Projected number of population (person) with the reference data

Year	Popu	lation	Child	ren	ЛОГ	uth	PA	ult	Elde	erly
	Projected	Reference								
2000	58875950	58875950	6707933	6707933	16114206	16114206	29994370	29994370	3619097	3619097
2001	59342860	59362288	6618655	6656657	15966743	15986552	30567982	30555334	3799274	3799291
2002	59789528	59887912	6461168	6540448	15806019	15868392	31161860	31181999	3966208	3973241
2003	60214600	60203927	6244728	6408418	15632063	15672264	31724740	31725766	4148139	4149343
2004	60619744	60549324	6127322	6274418	15506198	15566230	32227042	32094968	4321692	4281681
2005	61007264	60991000	5976537	6093939	15382437	15469151	32758340	32643068	4476148	4437704
2006	61379000	61395496	5814499	5897346	15265283	15399902	33275240	33158169	4628688	4580511
2007	61735540	61540020	5664259	5746864	15155672	15312226	33724804	33440860	4808534	4710969
2008	62078424	61828099	5581627	5649968	14976711	15175038	34212812	33893077	4934100	4795097
2009	62406976	62194564	5557768	5603427	14773849	15015318	34610752	34336120	5098468	4938049
2010	62719216	62579932	5606505	5564129	14526028	14888471	34994896	34784554	5233816	5070591
2011	63015524	62951504	5564683	5550178	14377268	14709722	35323760	35184472	5402583	5244520
2012	63294624	63337198	5529898	5533599	14264864	14572052	35569168	35510755	5597589	5455094
2013	63552152	63650593	5500465	5498600	14175824	14452208	35757112	35595435	5804511	5849348
2014	63788240	63954350	5475167	5467377	14076356	14359162	35897648	35795991	6050039	6123509
2015	63997528	64219585	5449832	5465284	13955072	14242330	36016764	36007672	6320660	6398580
2016	64184152	64417145	5420014	5421066	13791606	14081743	36171048	36228386	6582013	6656953
2017	64356344	64627465	5382587	5354592	13614536	13914026	36295936	36434515	6870323	6965569
\mathbb{R}^2	5.0	94	0.98	35	0.9	95	0.9	98	0.9	89

13431206		rojected Reference	Projected	Reference
13262462	<u> </u>	6482976	7459660	
13099074		6473592	7816702	
12321221	3	5997872	9639784	
11914744	3	4427792	11552620	
11386088	3	2655576	13200282	
10800081	3	0964786	14305206	
	13262462 13099074 12321221 11914744 11386088	13262462 3 13262462 3 13099074 3 12321221 3 11914744 3 11386088 3	13262462 36482976 13099074 36473592 12321221 35997872 11914744 34427792 11386088 32655576	13262462 36482976 7459660 13262462 36482976 7816702 13099074 36473592 7816702 12321221 35997872 9639784 11914744 34427792 11552620 11386088 32655576 13200282

Table 14 Projected number of population (person) with the reference data (continued)

			F	Proportion of	f DMFT grou	р		
Year	Very	' Low	Lo	WC	Mod	erate	H	igh
	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference
2000	0.447	0.450	0.170	0.170	0.170	0.168	0.212	0.212
2006	0.407	0.362	0.193	0.188	0.162	0.170	0.238	0.280
2012	0.374	0.384	0.205	0.213	0.165	0.169	0.256	0.234
2013	0.368		0.207		0.166		0.260	
2014	0.362		0.208		0.167		0.263	
2015	0.357		0.209		0.168		0.266	
2016	0.351		0.210	19.3 .	0.169		0.270	
2017	0.346		0.211	11/12	0.170		0.273	
2018	0.341		0.212		0.171		0.276	
2019	0.335	-	0.212	¥.Z	0.172		0.280	
2020	0.330	2	0.212		0.173		0.284	
2021	0.325	0	0.212		0.174		0.287	
2022	0.320		0.212		0.175		0.291	
2023	0.315		0.212	0 A	0.176		0.295	
2024	0.311		0.212		0.177		0.299	
2025	0.307		0.211	646	0.178		0.303	
2026	0.302		0.211	•≎•••••})	0.179		0.307	
2027	0.298	6	0.210	S AND A	0.179		0.311	
2028	0.294	St	0.209		0.180		0.315	
2029	0.290	×4	0.209		0.180		0.319	
2030	0.287		0.208		0.181		0.323	
2031	0.283		0.207	แ้มหาว ิเ	0.181		0.328	
2032	0.279		0.206		0.181		0.332	
2033	0.275		0.205		0.181	1 Y	0.336	
2034	0.272		0.204		0.182		0.340	
2035	0.268		0.203		0.182		0.345	
2036	0.265		0.202		0.182		0.349	
2037	0.261		0.201		0.182		0.353	
2038	0.258		0.200		0.182		0.357	
2039	0.255		0.198		0.182		0.362	
2040	0.252		0.197		0.181		0.366	
R ²	0.5	577	0.9	930	0.9	992	0.:	171

Table 15 Projected proportion of population with the reference data

	Proporti	on of popu	Ilation with	untreated	dental cari	es in each I	DMFT group)
Year	Very Lo	W	Low	T	Moder	ate	High	
	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	eference
2000	0.605	0.616	0.930	0.934	0.955	0.959	0.945	0.925
2006	0.632	0.635	0.881	0.920	0.945	0.936	0.883	0.885
2012	0.636	0.746	0.871	0.903	0.945	0.925	0.885	0.877
2013	0.636		0.870	220	0.945		0.885	
2014	0.637		0.869	11/122	0.944		0.885	
2015	0.637		0.868		0.944		0.884	
2016	0.637	бь. 1	0.867		0.944		0.884	
2017	0.637	2	0.866		0.944		0.885	
2018	0.637	J	0.865		0.944		0.885	
2019	0.637		0.864		0.944		0.885	
2020	0.637		0.863		0.944		0.885	
2025	0.637		0.860		0.943		0.885	
2030	0.636		0.858		0.943		0.885	
2035	0.635		0.856		0.943		0.884	
2040	0.633		0.855	Valler	0.943		0.884	
R ²	0.481		0.83	0	0.909	9	0.971	•

Table 16 Projected proportion of population with untreated dental caries in each DMFT group with the reference data

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Year	Dent	ist (person)	Dental nu	urse (person)	Uptake	e rate
	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference
2000	6795	6795	2636	2636	0.209	0.21
2001	7223	7175	2808	2701	0.204	
2002	7642	7216	2977	2930	0.200	
2003	8054	7828	3144	3102	0.198	
2004	8458	8076	3308	3307	0.197	
2005	8863	8443	3471	3456	0.197	
2006	9296	8809	3632	3697	0.196	0.19
2007	9762	9334	3791	3996	0.196	
2008	10254	9646	3948	4164	0.195	
2009	10768	9926	4104	4313	0.194	
2010	11304	10515	4259	4664	0.194	
2011	11869	11070	4411	4670	0.193	
2012	12461	11607	4643	4992	0.192	0.2
2013	13074	12089	5089	5360	0.191	
2014	13704	12600	5429	6613	0.190	
2015	14346	13215	5706	6819	0.190	
2016	14997	1	5958		0.189	
2017	15656		6203	Pr.	0.188	
2018	16319	8	6441		0.187	
2019	16985		6674		0.186	
2020	17651	1211	6903		0.185	
2025	20966	ิจุหาลงก	7992	วิทยาลัย	0.179	
2030	24188		9014	NIVERSITY	0.175	
2035	27282	GIULALUN	9983		0.171	
2040	30237		10903		0.167	
R ²		0.998	0	.980	0.53	33

Table 17 Projected number of dental personnel with the reference data

2007		continue tino	C SCD CI CO S	and in the		to motion non	CCD COD		CCD COD COD	2
ונימן	I DIAL SUSAI C		n ibzus acc		ion ingue acc					
	(kg/person)		poverty (kg,	/person)	poverty (kg/p	erson)	poverty (lit	er/person)	Non-poverty (li	ter/person
	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference	Projected	Reference
2000	28.496	27.808	2.26	2.26	6.62	6.62	15.090	15.091	44.110	44.110
2001	29.040	29.048	2.34		6.83		15.575		45.533	
2002	31.205	29.165	2.41	1.79	7.05	5.22	16.079	11.877	47.003	34.716
2003	31.313	30.875	2.49	พ	7.28		16.599		48.521	
2004	31.528	29.608	2.57	2.13	7.51	6.41	17.129	13.457	50.083	40.489
2005	32.003	32.305	2.65	งา	7.75		17.676	A B KA	51.695	
2006	33.997	32.906	2.74	3.13	8.00	8.38	18.244	19.433	53.362	51.976
2007	33.503	31.844	2.82	2.85	8.26	8.17	18.829	17.247	55.082	49.376
2008	32.938	30.437	2.91	N I	8.53		19.428		56.852	
2009	32.800	31.039	3.00	3.22	8.80	8.79	20.033	19.319	58.670	52.721
2010	35.167	33.777	3.10	ท	9.08		20.658	NN 11	60.548	
2011	37.794	36.606	3.20	3.90	9.37	10.84	21.317	22.576	62.496	62.700
2012	38.564	38.195	3.30	ล้ย	9.68		22.000		64.510	
2013	39.548	37.954	3.41	4.04	9.99	11.31	22.707	22.945	66.590	64.293
2014	39.615	37.862	3.52		10.31		23.442		68.741	
2015	40.181	38.213	3.63	4.37	10.64	11.97	24.196	24.375	70.958	66.679
2020	44.498		4.25		12.47		28.301		83.127	
2025	48.441		4.96		14.60		33.043		97.337	
2030	53.119		5.76		17.08		38.410		113.841	
2035	58.327		6.67		19.95		44.451		132.986	
2040	64.120		7.68		23.28		51.216		155.169	
\mathbb{R}^2	0.956		0.908		0.917		0.740		0.746	

Table 18 Projected sugar and SSB consumption with the reference data

Ľ.
Ψ
Ð
Ε
σ
a
Q
<u>ب</u>
8
X
¥
2
ö
.≃
ס
C.
Ř
5
₫
_

Table 19 Model parameters

Parameter	Initial value		Unit	Sources
		Population sector		
Fraction female	0.51		Dimensionless	Thailand Official Statistics Registration
	ຈຸ ນ CHU	Ş		Systems, Department of Provincial Administration, The Ministry of Interior
Total fertility rate	(2017,0.1)],(2000,0.0477	7),(2001,0.0469),(2002,0.04	Dimensionless/year	Bureau of Policy and Strategy, Ministry of
	62),(2003,0.0456),(2004	,0.0451),(2005,0.0448),(20	1 Black	Public Health
	06,0.0446),(2007,0.0445	5),(2008,0.0444),(2009,0.04		7
	43),(2010,0.0442),(2011	,0.0441),(2012,0.0438),(20		
	13,0.0435),(2014,0.0432	2),(2015,0.0428),(2016,0.04		जी जे
	31),(2017,0.0434)		MIIII	
Net migration rate	0.00015381	A N	Dimensionless/year	World bank 2002; and optimization
Age specific death rate	Value by age0-100 anc	l gender	Dimensionless/year	The Public Health Statistics Report 2000,
	าลั RS		Le DU V V	Bureau of Policy and Strategy, Ministry of
	ej SIT (Public Health
		Dental caries sector		
Parameter	Initial value		Unit	Sources
	Age 15-34	Age 35 and older		
Regular visit fraction very low			Dimensionless	National oral health survey data in 2000;
[female]	0.229	0.148		Bureau of Dental Health, Department of
Regular visit fraction very			Dimensionless	Health, Ministry of Public Health,
low[male]	0.191	0.170		Thailand
Regular visit fraction low [female]	0.306	0.357	Dimensionless	

sionless	sionless		hsionless	hsionless	sionless	sionless/year Expert's estimation with optimization	sionless/vear		nsionless/year	111111	nsionless/year		nsionless/year	nsionless/year	nsionless/year		n/year Report of dental personnel 2000-2015.	Bureau of Dental Health, Department of Health, Ministry of Public health,	Thailand
Dimer	Dimer		Dimer	Dimer	Dimer	Dimer	Dimer	R	Dimer	AS	Dimer		Dimer	Dimer	Dimer	or) Persol		
0.385		0.643	0.333	0.332	0.215	-0		0.58		0.34		0.75)		Utilization sect),(2002,500),(2003,500),(200	06,793),(2007,793),(2008,81 3),(2011,933),(2012,933),(20	015,933),(2018,933)
0.308		0.521	0.462	0.571	0.583	W18 JLAI		158 IGK 82.0	โม DRI	0.78	วิง Jn	0.7	0.063	0.066	0.063		(2000,500),(2001,500)	4,500),(2005,793),(20)),(2009,813),(2010,93	13,933),(2014,933),(2
Regular visit fraction low [male]	Regular visit fraction moderate 15-	34[female]	Regular visit fraction moderate [male]	Regular visit fraction high [female]	Regular visit fraction high [male]	Treated to untreated transition	Treated to untreated transition	rate low	Treated to untreated transition	rate moderate	Treated to untreated transition	rate high	VeryLowToLow transition rate	LowToModerate transition rate	ModerateToHigh transition rate		New dental student		

Parameter	Initial value	Unit	Sources
New dental nurse student	(2000,200),(2001,200),(2002,200),(2003,200),(200	Person/year	
	4,200),(2005,200),(2006,200),(2007,200),(2008,200		
),(2009,200),(2010,200),(2011,200),(2012,1500),(2		
	013,300),(2014,354),(2015,300)		
Initial dental personnel in	3000	Person	Average number of dental personnel in
school[dentist]	Сн Сн		school, 2000
Initial dental personnel in	4000	Person	
school[nurse]	The second secon	1 les	
Dropout rate[dentist]	0.01 00 50 100	Dimensionless/year	Estimated from dental personnel in
Dropout rate[nurse]	0.01 D 22	Dimensionless/year	school intake and graduated data
Time to graduate[dentist]		Year	The Dental Council of Thailand
Time to graduate[nurse]	2,4 2 2	Year	Number of dentist and dental nurse,
			2000
Initial dental personnel[dentist]	6795	Person	The Dental Council of Thailand
Initial dental personnel[nurse]	2636 3	Person	Number of dentist and dental nurse,
Attrition rate[dentist]	0.01	Dimensionless/year	2000
Attrition rate[nurse]	0.01	Dimensionless/year	Expert's estimation
Elasticity of capacity	0.1	Dimensionless	Expert's estimation
Time to adjust uptake	1	Year	National oral health survey data in 2000;
Initial uptake rate[verylow]	0.384	Dimensionless/year	Bureau of Dental Health, Department of
Initial uptake rate[low]	0.066	Dimensionless/year	Health, Ministry of Public Health,
			Thailand
Initial uptake rate[moderate]	0.041	Dimensionless/year	National oral health survey data in 2000;
Initial uptake rate[high]	0.075	Dimensionless/year	Bureau of Dental Health, Department of

Elasticity of affordability	0.1	Dimensionless	Health, Ministry of Public Health,
Proportion of low SES able to	0.4	Dimensionless	Thailand
afford out of pocket costs			Expert's estimation
Elasticity of perception of need	VL 0.8, L 0.05, M 0.4, H 0.8	Dimensionless	
Elasticity of treated in perception	VL 1, L 0.5, M 0.4, H 0.8	Dimensionless	
of need			Experts esumation Nitrional contractions and for the second of the second
Time to adjust perception	CH L	Year	National Olar Health Sulvey data III 2000; Buroshi of Dontsi Hosilth, Donsetmont of
Initial perceived need for dental care[verylow]	0.584 DIT	Dimensionless/year	Health, Ministry of Public Health,
Initial perceived need for dental	0.071 DO 170.0	Dimensionless/year	Tratatra
care[low]		2 Milling	
Initial perceived need for dental care[moderate]	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Dimensionless/year	्वेती जे
Initial portained poor dontal	0.601	Dimonsionloss	3
mulat perceived need for dentat care[high]		Dimensioness/year	National oral health survey data in 2000;
Population proportion below	(2000,0.4233),(2002,0.3244),(2004,0.2676),(2006,0	Dimensionless	Bureau of Dental Health, Department of
poverty line	.2194),(2007,0.2004),(2008,0.2043),(2009,0.1788),(Health, Ministry of Public Health,
	2010,0.1637),(2011,0.1322),(2012,0.1264),(2013,0.		Thailand
	1094),(2014,0.1053)		
Sugar consumption sector			Thai National Statistical Office, Ministry
			of Information and Communication
			Technology
Reference average price of SSB	(2000,63.7867),(2001,64.1267),(2002,63.5795),(20	Baht/litre	estimation
	03,64.0933),(2004,64.4933),(2005,64.9733),(2006,		

	64.9361),(2007,65.4755),(2008,66.3511),(2009,68.		
	7451),(2010,69.2458),(2011,69.7695),(2012,69.932		
	4),(2013,70.2214),(2014,69.6652),(2015,70.6322),(
	2016,71.4583),(2017,72.6111),(2018,72.8889)		
Demand price elasticity	Low income -15.09	Dimensionless	Bureau of Trade and Economic Indices,
	High income -44.11		Ministry of commerce
	CH		Dr.Chayada Bhadakom, Economic
	a w		analysis of overnutrition in Thailand,
			March 2014
Average sugar content per SSB	0.128 0 0.128	Kg/litre/year	Thai National Statistical Office, Ministry
			of Information and Communication
	「 一 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、		Technology
Other sugar consumption by	(2000,18.2197),(2002,18.9535),(2004,18.6345),(20	Kg/person/year	Bureau of Food and Nutrition, Ministry of
SES[lowincome]	06,19.797),(2007,19.8437),(2009,17.9316),(2011,2		Public Health, Thailand
	1.6663),(2013,20.8415),(2015,20.9157),(2017,21.3		
	204),(2019,22.3497),(2021,22.5348),(2023,22.9825		
),(2025,23.5328),(2027,24.1233),(2029,24.5888),(2		
	031,25.131),(2033,25.6988),(2035,26.2708),(2037,		
	26.837),(2039,27.4304),(2041,28.0375)		
Other sugar consumption by	(2000,27.7606),(2002,28.8786),(2004,27.7879),(20	Kg/person/year	Thailand Office of the Cane and Sugar
SES[highincome]	06,29.2149),(2007,27.9568),(2009,26.5831),(2011,		Roard Ministry of Industry and Thai
	30.3893),(2013,31.4391),(2015,30.7522),(2017,31.		הסמים, ואוויוסנוץ כי וווסמסנוץ מוים ווומ
	5729),(2019,33.0139),(2021,33.7156),(2023,34.320		National Statistical Office, Ministry of
	2),(2025,35.277),(2027,36.271),(2029,37.1347),(20		
	31,38.0426),(2033,39.0347),(2035,40.0352),(2037,		
	41.0358),(2039,42.0735),(2041,43.1462)		

						Information and Communication
						Technology
						With extrapolation after 2015 from 4y %
						change moving average
Initial self-care adherence	0.529				Dimensionless	Bureau of Food and Nutrition, Ministry of
		Сн	3			Public Health, Thailand
Elasticity of sugar consumption	9.0	IUL) W	30	Dimensionless	
Elasticity of oral hygiene on teeth	Γ.	ALO	าลง		Dimensionless	National oral health survey data in 2000;
						Bureau of Dental Health, Department of
					Î	Health, Ministry of Public Health,
				_		Thailand
Time to close self-care adherence gap	40	IVI	181	1	Year	
		RSI	าลัย		A A A A	

beverage
-sweetened
r for sugar
tax policy
E: Excise
Appendix

Table 20 Excise tax for sugar sweetened beverage in Thailand

	ו מחוב י	כת בארואב וו	ngus int vr	ו אעבבובו וב	an neveral	ב וו ו וומויח	l la		
Туре	Sugar Content (g/100 ml)	16 Sep 2017-	30 Sep 2019	1 Oct 2019-	30 Sep 2021	1 Oct 2021-	30 Sep 2023	From 1 C	oct 2023
		By retail price (%)	By volume (Baht/liter)						
Soda and other sweet drink	0-5.99	14	0	14	0	14	0	14	0
(tea, coffee, energy drink)	C 0.8-0.9	14	0.1	14	0.1	14	0.3	14	1
	8.01-10.00	14	0.3	14	0.3	14	1	14	m
	10.01-14.00	14	0.5	14	N 1 A	14	£	14	Ŋ
	14.01-18.00	14	1	14	3	14	5	14	Ŋ
	more than 18.00	14		14	5	14	5	14	Ŋ
Fruit/Veg juice (low produce content)	0-5.99	10	0	10	0 0	10	0	10	0
	6.0-8.0	10	0.1	10	0.1	10	0.3	10	1
	8.01-10.00	10	0.3	10	0.3	IO	1	10	m
	10.01-14.00	10	0.5	10		10	£	10	Ŋ
	14.01-18.00	10	1	10	360	10	5	10	ß
	more than 18.00	10	1	10	5	10	5	10	Ŋ
Fruit/Veg juice (high produce content)	0-5.99	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	6.0-8.0	0	0.1	0	0.1	0	0.3	0	1
	8.01-10.00	0	0.3	0	0.3	0	1	0	ε
	10.01-14.00	0	0.5	0	1	0	ß	0	S
	14.01-18.00	0	1	0	ю	0	5	0	ß
	more than 18.00	C	T	0	S	0	S	0	L.

REFERENCES

1. Hayes A, Azarpazhooh A, Dempster L, Ravaghi V, Quiñonez C. Time loss due to dental problems and treatment in the Canadian population: analysis of a nationwide cross-sectional survey. BMC Oral Health. 2013;13(1):17.

2. Jaidee J, Chatrchaiwiwatana S, Ratanasiri A. Factors related to toooth loss among industrial workers in Phathumthani, Thailand. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health. 2017;48(1):253-64.

 สำนักทันตสาธารณสุข กรมอนามัย. รายงานผลการสำรวจสภาวะสุขภาพช่องปาก ระดับประเทศ ครั้งที่ 7 ประเทศไทย พ.ศ. 2555. กรุงเทพมหานคร: โรงพิมพ์องค์การสงเคราะห์ทหาร ผ่านศึก; 2556.

สำนักทันตสาธารณสุข กรมอนามัย. รายงานผลการสำรวจสภาวะทันตสุขภาพแห่งชาติ ครั้งที่ 5
พ.ศ. 2543-2544. กรุงเทพมหานคร: บริษัท สามเจริญพาณิชย์ (กรุงเทพ) จำกัด; 2545.

5. Scully C, Ettinger RL. The influence of systemic diseases on oral health care in older adults. Journal of the American Dental Association (1939). 2007;138 Suppl:7s-14s.

6. ปัทมา ว่าพัฒนวงศ์, ปราโมทย์ ประสาทกุล. ประชากรไทยในอนาคต: สถาบันวิจัยประชากร และสังคม มหาวิทยาลัยมหิดล; [cited 2559 15 มกราคม]. Available from:

http://www.ipsr.mahidol.ac.th/IPSR/AnnualConference/ConferenceII/Article/Article02.ht m.

7. สำนักงานสถิติแห่งชาติ การสำรวจอนามัยและสวัสดิการ พ.ศ. 2560 กรุงเทพมหานคร: กระทรวงดิจิทัลเพื่อเศรษฐกิจและสังคม; 2561 [NONIVERSITY

8. Moynihan P, Petersen PE. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of dental diseases. Public health nutrition. 2004;7(1a):201-26.

9. Marshall TA. Preventing dental caries associated with sugar-sweetened beverages. Journal of the American Dental Association (1939). 2013;144(10):1148-52.

10. Rattanarungsima K. The sugar consumption of Thai population during 1997-2010. Thailand Journal of Dental Public Health. 2012;17(2):23-30.

11. National Bureau of Agricultural Commodity and Food Standards. Food consumption data of Thailand

2007-2010. Bangkok: Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperative; 2010.

12. Promdee L, Trakulthong J, Kangwantrakul W. Sucrose consumption in Thai undergraduate students. Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition. 2007;16 Suppl 1:22-6.

13. World Health Organization. Guideline: Sugars intake for adults and children. Geneva2015.

14. Marron DB, Gearing ME, Iselin J. Should We Tax Unhealthy Foods and Drinks? Available at SSRN 2703598. 2015.

15. Cabrera Escobar MA, Veerman JL, Tollman SM, Bertram MY, Hofman KJ. Evidence that a tax on sugar sweetened beverages reduces the obesity rate: a meta-analysis. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(1):1-10.

16. Colchero MA, Salgado JC, Unar-Munguía M, Hernández-Ávila M, Rivera-Dommarco JA. Price elasticity of the demand for sugar sweetened beverages and soft drinks in Mexico. Economics & Human Biology. 2015;19:129-37.

17. Sugar drinks: New tax, higher prices & social engineering [Internet]. 2017. Available from: http://www.bangkokpost.com/learning/advanced/1269713/sugar-drinks-new-tax-higher-prices-social-engineering.

18. Thai Department of Finance. Excise Act, B.E. 2560 (2017). 2017.

19. GAIN report: Thailand sugar semi-annual 2017 [Internet]. 2017. Available from: https://gain.fas.usda.gov/Recent%20GAIN%20Publications/Sugar%20Semiannual Bangkok Thailand 9-25-2017.pdf.

20. Jayasinghe S. Social determinants of health inequalities: towards a theoretical perspective using systems science. International journal for equity in health. 2015;14:71.

21. Norman CD. Health promotion as a systems science and practice. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice. 2009;15(5):868-72.

22. Newton JT, Bower EJ. The social determinants of oral health: new approaches to conceptualizing and researching complex causal networks. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2005;33(1):25-34.

23. Forrester JW. System dynamics and the lessons of 35 years. A systems-based approach to policymaking: Springer; 1993. p. 199-240.

24. Lane DC, Oliva R. The greater whole: Towards a synthesis of system dynamics and soft systems methodology. European Journal of Operational Research. 1998;107(1):214-35.

25. Bronkhorst E, Wiersma T, Truin G, editors. Using complex system dynamics models: an example concerning the Dutch dental health care system. Proceedings of the 1991 International System Dynamics Conference 1991.

26. Metcalf SS, Northridge ME, Widener MJ, Chakraborty B, Marshall SE, Lamster IB. Modeling social dimensions of oral health among older adults in urban environments. Health Education & Behavior. 2013;40(1 suppl):63S-73S.

27. Liu S, Osgood N, Gao Q, Xue H, Wang Y. Systems simulation model for assessing the sustainability and synergistic impacts of sugar-sweetened beverages tax and revenue recycling on childhood obesity prevention. Journal of the Operational Research Society. 2015;67(5):708-21.

28. Udompanich S. System Dynamics Model in Estimating Manpower Needs in Dental Public Health. Human Resources Development Journal. 1997;1(1):35-47.

 Lexomboon D, Punyashingh K. Supply projections for dentists, Thailand (2000– 2030). Human Resources Development Journal. 2000;4(2).

30. Fejerskov O. Changing paradigms in concepts on dental caries: consequences for oral health care. Caries research. 2004;38(3):182-91.

31. Holst D. Causes and prevention of dental caries: a perspective on cases and incidence. Oral health & preventive dentistry. 2005;3(1):9-14.

32. Petersen PE. Sociobehavioural risk factors in dental caries – international perspectives. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2005;33(4):274-9.

33. Klein H, Palmer CE, Knutson JW. Studies on dental caries: I. Dental status and dental needs of elementary school children. Public Health Reports (1896-1970). 1938:751-65.

34. Knutson JW. An index of the prevalenceof dental caries in school children. Pub Hlth Rep. 1944;59:253-63.

35. World Health Organization. Oral health surveys: basic methods- 5th edition. Geneva2013.

36. Gulliford M. Health services as determinants of population health. In: Detels R, Beaglehole R, Lansang MA, Gulliford M, editors. Oxford textbook of public health, Volume 1: the scope of public health 1. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009. p. 238-55.
37. Andersen R, Newman JF. Societal and Individual Determinants of Medical Care Utilization in the United States. The Milbank Quarterly. 2005;83(4):10.1111/j.468-0009.2005.00428.x.

38. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? Journal of health and social behavior. 1995;36(1):1-10.

39. Baker SR. Applying Andersen's behavioural model to oral health: what are the contextual factors shaping perceived oral health outcomes? Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2009;37(6):485-94.

40. Lo ECM, Lin HC, Wang ZJ, Wong MCM, Schwarz E. Utilization of Dental Services in Southern China. Journal of Dental Research. 2001;80(5):1471-4.

41. Vujicic M, Nasseh K. A Decade in Dental Care Utilization among Adults and Children (2001–2010). Health Services Research. 2014;49(2):460-80.

42. Muirhead VE, Quinonez C, Figueiredo R, Locker D. Predictors of dental care utilization among working poor Canadians. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2009;37(3):199-208.

43. Finlayson TL, Gansky SA, Shain SG, Weintraub JA. Dental utilization among Hispanic adults in agricultural worker families in California's Central Valley. Journal of public health dentistry. 2010;70(4):292-9.

44. Farley TA. Asking the Right Questions: Research of Consequence to Solve Problems of Significance. American journal of public health. 2016;106(10):1778.

45. Sohn W, Ismail AI. Regular dental visits and dental anxiety in an adult dentate population. The Journal of the American Dental Association. 2005;136(1):58-66.

46. Ekanayake L, Mendis R. Self reported use of dental services among employed adults in Sri Lanka. International Dental Journal. 2002;52(3):151-5.

47. Kiyak HA, Reichmuth M. Barriers to and enablers of older adults' use of dental services. Journal of Dental Education. 2005;69(9):975-86.

48. Wu B, Plassman BL, Liang J, Wei L. Cognitive Function and Dental Care Utilization Among Community-Dwelling Older Adults. American Journal of Public Health. 2007;97(12):2216-21.

49. Burr JA, Lee HJ. Social Relationships and Dental Care Service Utilization Among Older Adults. Journal of Aging and Health. 2013;25(2):191-220. 50. Borreani E, Wright D, Scambler S, Gallagher JE. Minimising barriers to dental care in older people. BMC Oral Health. 2008;8(1):1-15.

51. Hanibuchi T, Aida J, Nakade M, Hirai H, Kondo K. Geographical accessibility to dental care in the Japanese elderly. Community dental health. 2011;28(2):128.

52. Ohi T, Sai M, Kikuchi M, Hattori Y, Tsuboi A, Hozawa A, et al. Determinants of the utilization of dental services in a community-dwelling elderly Japanese population. The Tohoku journal of experimental medicine. 2009;218(3):241-9.

53. Saengtipbovorn S, Taneepanichskul S, Pongpanich S, Boonyamanond L. Factors associated with the utilization of dental health services by the elderly patients in health center no. 54, Bangkok, Thailand. J Health Res. 2012;26(4).

54. สุภาพร แสงอ่วม, นิทรา กิจธีรวุฒิวงษ์, ชญานินท์ ประทุมสูตร, กันยารัตน์ คอวนิช. ปัจจัยที่ สัมพันธ์กับการเข้าถึงบริการทันตกรรมของผุ้สูงอายุในเขตภาคเหนือตอนล่าง ประเทศไทย. เชียงใหม่ ทันตแพทย์สาร. 2558;36(1):9.

55. Department of Health. Dietary sugars and human disease. Report on health and social subjects no. 37

London; 1989.

56. FAOSTAT: Food balance sheet [Internet]. [cited 2018/05/13]. Available from: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS.

57. Kriengsinyos W, Chan P, Amarra MSV. Consumption and sources of added sugar in Thailand: a review. Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition. 2018;27(2):262.

58. สำนักงานคณะกรรมการอาหารและยา. น้ำตาลในเครื่องดื่ม [Available from: <u>http://food.fda.moph.go.th/data/document/2558/CS_sugar.pdf</u>.

59. The 2013 survey on food consumption behaviour [Internet]. 2014 [cited 25 September 2016]. Available from:

http://web.nso.go.th/en/survey/data_survey/570602_executive_survey_on_food_consu mption_13.pdf.

60. Lim L, Banwell C, Bain C, Banks E, Seubsman S-a, Kelly M, et al. Sugar Sweetened Beverages and Weight Gain over 4 Years in a Thai National Cohort – A Prospective Analysis. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(5):e95309.

61. Jackson MC, Keys P. Towards a System of Systems Methodologies. Journal of the Operational Research Society. 1984;35(6):473-86.

62. World Health Organization. Social determinants of health; [Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/social_determinants/sdh_definition/en/</u>.

63. Sadana R, Blas E. What Can Public Health Programs Do to Improve Health Equity? Public Health Reports. 2013;128(Suppl 3):12-20.

64. Tellez M, Zini A, Estupiñan-Day S. Social Determinants and Oral Health: An Update. Current Oral Health Reports. 2014;1(3):148-52.

65. Thomson WM. Social inequality in oral health. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2012;40 Suppl 2:28-32.

66. Watt RG. Social determinants of oral health inequalities: implications for action. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2012;40 Suppl 2:44-8.

67. Sheiham A, Alexander D, Cohen L, Marinho V, Moyses S, Petersen PE, et al. Global oral health inequalities: task group--implementation and delivery of oral health strategies. Advances in dental research. 2011;23(2):259-67.

68. Organization WH. Closing the Gap in a Generation: Health Equity Through Action on the Social Determinants of Health: Final Report: Executive Summary: World Health Organization; 2008.

69. Watt RG, Sheiham A. Integrating the common risk factor approach into a social determinants framework. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2012;40(4):289-96.

70. Kuh D, Shlomo YB. A life course approach to chronic disease epidemiology: Oxford University Press; 2004.

71. Costa SM, Martins CC, Bonfim Mde L, Zina LG, Paiva SM, Pordeus IA, et al. A systematic review of socioeconomic indicators and dental caries in adults. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2012;9(10):3540-74.

72. Tomar SL. Social determinants of oral health and disease in U.S. men. Journal of Men's Health. 2012;9(2):113-9.

73. Bernabe E, Hobdell MH. Is income inequality related to childhood dental caries in rich countries? Journal of the American Dental Association (1939). 2010;141(2):143-9.

74. Dye BA, Li X, Thorton-Evans G. Oral health disparities as determined by selected healthy people 2020 oral health objectives for the United States, 2009-2010. NCHS data brief. 2012(104):1-8.

75. Vettore MV, Faerstein E, Baker SR. Social position, social ties and adult's oral health: 13 year cohort study. Journal of Dentistry. 2016;44:50-6.

76. Steele J, Shen J, Tsakos G, Fuller E, Morris S, Watt R, et al. The Interplay between socioeconomic inequalities and clinical oral health. J Dent Res. 2015;94(1):19-26.

77. Birch S, Kephart G, Murphy GT, O'Brien-Pallas L, Alder R, MacKenzie A. Health human resources planning and the production of health: development of an extended analytical framework for needs-based health human resources planning. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice. 2009;15(6):S56-S61.

78. Listl S, Chalkley M. Provider payment bares teeth: dentist reimbursement and the use of check-up examinations. Social Science & Medicine. 2014;111:110-6.

79. Kell E. Food for thought: promoting healthy diets among children and young people: British Medical Association; 2015.

80. McGuire S. Scientific Report of the 2015 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee. Washington, DC: US Departments of Agriculture and Health and Human Services, 2015. Advances in Nutrition. 2016;7(1):202-4.

81. Pan A, Hu FB. Effects of carbohydrates on satiety: differences between liquid and solid food. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care. 2011;14(4):385-90.

82. European competitiveness and sustainable industrial policy consortium. Food taxes and their impact on competitiveness in the agri-food sector: Annexes to the main report. Rotterdam, The Netherlands; 2014.

83. Grogger J. Soda taxes and the prices of sodas and other drinks: evidence from Mexico. National Bureau of Economic Research; 2015.

84. Cawley J, Frisvold D. The Incidence of Taxes on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages: The Case of Berkeley, California. National Bureau of Economic Research; 2015.

85. Briggs ADM, Mytton OT, Kehlbacher A, Tiffin R, Elhussein A, Rayner M, et al. Health impact assessment of the UK soft drinks industry levy: a comparative risk assessment modelling study. The Lancet Public Health. 2017;2(1):e15-e22.

86. Fletcher J, Frisvold D, Tefft N. The effects of sotf drinks taxes on child and adolescent consumption and weight outcomes. J Public Econ. 2010;94.

87. Lin B-H, Smith TA, Lee J-Y, Hall KD. Measuring weight outcomes for obesity intervention strategies: The case of a sugar-sweetened beverage tax. Economics & Human Biology. 2011;9(4):329-41.

88. Wansink B, Hanks A, Cawley J, Just D. From coke to coors: a field study of a fat tax and its unintended consequences. 2014.

89. Finkelstein EA, Zhen C, Bilger M, Nonnemaker J, Farooqui AM, Todd JE. Implications of a sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) tax when substitutions to non-beverage items are considered. J Health Econ. 2013;32(1):219-39.

90. ปิยะดา ประเสริฐสม, จันทนา อึ้งชูศักดิ์. พฤติกรรมการดื่มเครื่องดื่มที่มีส่วนผสมของน้ำตาลใน
คนไทย อายุ 10-35 ปี พ.ศ. 2555. วารสารการส่งเสริมสุขภาพและอนามัยสิ่งแวดล้อม. 2559;39(2):90102.

91. Bhadrakom C. Economic analysis of overnutrition in Thailand: University of Reading; 2014.

92. Longini IM, Jr., Nizam A, Xu S, Ungchusak K, Hanshaoworakul W, Cummings DA, et al. Containing pandemic influenza at the source. Science (New York, NY). 2005;309(5737):1083-7.

93. Hammond RA. Complex systems modeling for obesity research. Preventing chronic disease. 2009;6(3):A97.

94. Jones AP, Homer JB, Murphy DL, Essien JD, Milstein B, Seville DA. Understanding diabetes population dynamics through simulation modeling and experimentation. American Journal of Public Health. 2006;96(3):488-94.

95. Weeks MR, Li J, Liao S, Zhang Q, Dunn J, Wang Y, et al. Multilevel dynamic systems affecting introduction of HIV/STI prevention innovations among Chinese women in sex work establishments. Health Education & Behavior. 2013;40(1 suppl):111S-22S.

96. De Savigny D, Adam T. Systems thinking for health systems strengthening: World Health Organization; 2009.

97. Carey G, Malbon E, Carey N, Joyce A, Crammond B, Carey A. Systems science and systems thinking for public health: a systematic review of the field. BMJ open. 2015;5(12):e009002.

98. Luke DA, Stamatakis KA. Systems science methods in public health: dynamics, networks, and agents. Annual review of public health. 2012;33:357.

99. Forrester JW. Industrial Dynamics. Cambridge: The MIT Press; 1961. null p.

100. Sterman JD. Business System Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World. Boston: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.; 2000.

101. สุวิทย์ อุดมพาณิชย์. ทันตาภิบาลในสถานีอนามัย: กรณีศึกษาจังหวัดขอนแก่น. วิทยาสารทันตแพทยศาสตร์ มหาวิทยาลัยขอนแก่น. 2541;1(1):9-17.

102. Hovmand P, Rouwette E, Andersen D, Richardson G, Kraus A. Scriptapedia 4.0. 6.2013.

103. Ventana Systems. Vensim DSS (Version 6.4) [Software].

104. Number of Thai population in single age 2000-2015. [Internet]. 2016. Available from: <u>http://stat.dopa.go.th/stat/statnew/upstat_age.php</u>.

105. The World Bank Group. Thailand fertility rate and total birth (per woman) 1960-2014. 2017.

106. Bureau of Dental Health DoH, Ministry of Public Health, Thailand. Public Health Statistics. Thailand: Bureau of Policy and Strategy, Ministry of Public Health (Thailand); 2000.

107. Report of sugar consumption in Thailand [Internet]. 2000-2015 [cited 15 October,2016]. Available from: <u>www.sugarzone.in.th</u>.

108. Report of food consumption data of Thailand [Internet]. 2006 [cited 17 Janurary,2017]. Available from:

http://www.acfs.go.th/document/download_document/food_consumption_data.pdf.

109. Ansah JP, Matchar DB, Love SR, Malhotra R, Do YK, Chan A, et al. Simulating the impact of long-term care policy on family eldercare hours. Health Services Research. 2013;48(2 PART2):773-91.

110. Eberlein RL, Thompson JP, Matchar DB, editors. Chronological Ageing in Continuous Time. 30th International Conference of the System Dynamics Society; 2012; Albany, NY: System Dynamics Society; 2012.

111. Thailand Official Statistics Registration Systems [Internet]. 2017. Available from: http://stat.dopa.go.th/stat/statnew/upstat_age.php.

112. Report of dental personnel in Thailand 2000-2015. [Internet]. 2016. Available from: <u>http://dental2.anamai.moph.go.th/ewtadmin/ewt/dental/main.php?filename=stat</u>.

113. Kum SS, Wang H, Jin Z, Xu W, Mark J, Northridge ME, et al., editors. Boundary objects for group model building to explore oral health equity. Cambridge: 33rd International Conference of the System Dynamics Society; 2015.

114. Prasertsom P, Ungchusak C. Sugar Sweetened Beverage Intake among Thai People Aged 10-35 years old. Thailand journal of Health Promotion and Environment at Health. 2016;39(2):90-102.

115. OECD, Food, Nations AOotU. OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2017-20262017.

116. Guerrero-López CM, Unar-Munguía M, Colchero MA. Price elasticity of the demand for soft drinks, other sugar-sweetened beverages and energy dense food in Chile. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):180.

117. Schwendicke F, Thomson WM, Broadbent JM, Stolpe M. Effects of Taxing Sugar-Sweetened Beverages on Caries and Treatment Costs. J Dent Res. 2016;95(12):1327-32.

118. Ghaffari M, Rakhshanderou S, Ramezankhani A, Buunk-Werkhoven Y, Noroozi M, Armoon B. Are educating and promoting interventions effective in oral health?: A systematic review. Int J Dent Hyg. 2018;16(1):48-58.

119. Ghaffari M, Rakhshanderou S, Ramezankhani A, Noroozi M, Armoon B. Oral Health Education and Promotion Programmes: Meta-Analysis of 17-Year Intervention. Int J Dent Hyg. 2018;16(1):59-67.

120. Nakre P, Harikiran A. Effectiveness of oral health education programs: A systematic review. Journal of International Society of Preventive and Community Dentistry. 2013;3(2):103-15.

121. Boles M, Adams A, Gredler A, Manhas S. Ability of a mass media campaign to influence knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors about sugary drinks and obesity. Prev Med. 2014;67:S40-S5.



Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES



Chulalongkorn University



Chulalongkorn University

VITA

NAME	Nipaporn Urwannachotima
DATE OF BIRTH	18 October 1976
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	1992 - 1998 Doctor of Dental Surgery
	Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University,
	Bangkok, Thailand
	2003 - 2005 Master of Education,
4	Major in health education and health promotion
	University of Texas at Austin, Austin, USA
	2013 - 2018 Doctor of Philosophy
	Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University,
	Bangkok, Thailand
HOME ADDRESS	268 Chula Soi 9 Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330
PUBLICATION	Urwannachotima N. 2016. Social determinants of health
	and health promotion in population. Journal of Health
จุหา	Science 25(1):147-56. (in Thai)
	Urwannachotima N., Hanvoravongchai P., & Ansah J. P.
	2018. Sugar-sweetened beverage tax and potential impact
	on dental caries in Thai adults: an evaluation using the
	group model building approach. Systems Research and
	Behavioral Science.